Editorial:

BEHIND FAKE ENCOUNTERS

After the fake encounter of one carpenter Abdul Rehman Padder, this whole month witnessed wide spread protests and demonstrations against Enforced Involuntary Disappearances (EID) in the valley. In a dramatic manner investigation by the Special Investigation Team (SIT) of the police led to four other cases of disappearances related with this case. The daily-based media reporting highlighted the issue of disappearances in the valley. Relatives of the desaparecidos of their own in their respective areas, villages and towns led processions to the government offices demanding investigation in their cases also. Never before EID has become such a huge public issue. It was not the first time that the civilians subjected to EID have been killed in fake encounters and claimed as foreign militants. This pattern is going on since 1996, especially after the constitution of the Special Operations Group (SOG) of Jammu Kashmir Police. The notorious case is of Pathribal where 5 civilians were killed in fake encounter, dubbed as foreign militants, and held responsible by the army and SOG for the killing of 35 Sikhs in Chittisinghpora in 2000.

Before Rehman’s case, the Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) has documented 21 fake encounter killings since 2002. The relatives of the disappeared have filed petitions in the High Court and in most of these petitions the investigations were ordered which are going at snails pace; only frustrating the relatives. In these cases there is no cooperation from the army who are needed in investigation thereby rendering the police agencies ineffective and helpless. Analyzing the pattern behind this phenomenon, there are multiple reasons:  

Creating wide spread terror among the population is one of the major reasons. Like torture, systematic disappearances are done to discourage people from linking with each other politically and socially; its purpose is to prevent a political process and the formation of relationship among people. According to the CCS survey (1989- 2005), out of 343 disappeared people in Baramulla district; the number of civilians is 246 (71percent of the disappeared in Baramulla). The others factors are receiving awards, rewards and promotions from the government for the ‘gallantry’ task while neutralizing the militancy. The other factor that has political edge is externalizing the militancy, impressing the international community that people fighting in Kashmir are foreign Pan-Islamic militants than locals. Hundreds of civilians after arrest followed by disappearances are being killed in fake encounters and the common factor is ‘the faces of these foreign militants are mutilated beyond recognition’. Besides these factors, the SOG and the army nexus has also developed the personal vested interest of extorting money from the people as has been in the case of Rehman. The police constable Farooq Padroo extorted money from the families. 

There have been protests throughout the month but it has remained a pattern in Kashmir that beyond protests people in Kashmir don’t know what to do next. Nevertheless, the news starved media provided huge coverage to the issue, but after coverage what follows. It seems that the victims finally end up performing for the media and it is again a question that after huge media coverage what difference it makes. Last year in the month of May, the sex scandal in Kashmir became a huge public issue prompting police and the investigating agencies for filing the cases and arresting the highly placed accused officials and politicians. But after one year what has happened? The prosecutrix in the case has turned hostile, accused have been granted bails and even in the violation of service conduct rules where an IAS officer has resumed his office, though still he is facing the trial. There is every possibility that the accused will be honorably acquitted in the sex scandal case.

The relatives of the disappeared are already tired. With the passage of time they will lie low and it will be again normal for the government. The government is now very confident about handling the protests and demonstrations. It seems that they are following the Chinese proverb “when water becomes muddy, do nothing, mud will settle itself”. They are confident that as long as the human rights issues are not externalized, things are okay. It has remained the major failure of the civil society in Kashmir to get things externalized or to engage the international community. How far that works is another question but it certainly makes a difference at least it can expose the contradictions of the state before the international community. One of the successes of the APDP which has conducted least street protests in the past but have taken the issue of disappearances in various Asian countries and also the UN which could be a concern for the government of India. 

The case will be filed against the accused officials but it will end like the sex scandal case. The prosecution will be first questioned about non-obtaining of sanctions that has been the plea in other cases like Pathribal. Besides armed forces and the SOG, the two other institutions responsible for the crimes against humanity are the judiciary and the Indian civil society. The docile judiciary in Jammu Kashmir has encouraged the perpetrators to go on committing their acts without any accountability and the civil society for its silence. Notwithstanding the ritual meetings which occasionally some civil society groups conduct at Delhi as has happened in this month but beyond that they seem to follow the famous quote of Tolstoy, “A man sits on others back choking him and forcing him to carry himself and yet he assures himself and others that he feels sorry for him and wants to lessen his burden by all possible means except by getting off his back.”         

EXPOSE OF FAKE ENCOUNTER KILLINGS

The episode of fake encounters appeared on the surface in valley when police launched investigation into the disappearance case of a carpenter Abdur Rahman Padder. Following the family’s accusation that the police are shielding a cop involved in the carpenter’s disappearance, a series of events took place which resulted in the expose of the fake encounter killings committed by the Indian army and the Special Operations Group (SOG) of the Jammu and Kashmir Police. The Indian armed forces & SOG abducted, killed civilians in these fake encounters and labeled them as foreign militants for the greed of earning promotions and reward money. 

THE SERIES OF EVENTS, WHICH RESULTED IN THE EXPOSE OF THE FAKE ENCOUNTER KILLINGS, STARTED WITH THE CASE OF ABDUR REHMAN PADDER, 35, SON OF GHULAM RASOOL OF LARNU KOKERNAG IN ISLAMABAD (ANANTNAG), KASHMIR.

Abdur Rehman Padder had been picked up on December 8, 2006 from Batamaloo bus stand, Srinagar by SOG personnel on the instance of SOG constable Farooq Ahmad Padroo and then killed in a fake encounter in Waskura, Ganderbal. He was labeled as Abu Hafiz of Multan, Pakistan, one of the members of militant outfit Lashkar-e-Toiba. SOG personnel also claimed the recovery of an AK-47 rifle, three magazines, 36 rounds of ammunitions and a grenade from Padder, revealed an FIR No. 133/06, registered in Shadipora police station. SOG men who participated in the fake encounter were awarded Rupees 1, 20,000(approximately 2300 US dollars).

However, when police investigated into the disappearance of Rehman, they came to know that Rehman was a carpenter. He was taken to Waskura, Ganderbal in the night and killed in a fake encounter staged by the SOG cops headed by Superintendent Police (SP) Ganderbal Hansraj Parihar and DSP Bahadur Ram.

     
The investigation reports disclosed the claims of the SOG personnel were counterfeit. Rehman was a carpenter by profession but SOG personnel dubbed him as Lashkar-e-Toiba militant. No weapons and ammunition like AK-47 rifle, three magazines, and 36 rounds of bullets were recovered from Rehman.

     
After the carpenter’s family lodged a missing report in the police station Batamaloo, police tracked his mobile (9419901156) and the IMIE number 357054000784988 and made inquiries from the cellular phone operators.

    
 The mobile was recovered from Abdur Rashid Wagay son of Abdul Gani Wagay, a resident of Sumbal. Police formed a Special Investigation Team (SIT) led by Deputy Inspector General of Jammu and Kashmir Police (DIG) Farooq Ahmed and during interrogation the accused Abdur Rashid Wagay revealed that the phone was given to him by Assistant Sub Inspector (ASI) Farooq Ahmed Gudoo of Pethrompora, Ganderbal and at present posted with the SOG Ganderbal and Farooq Ahmad Padroo, SOG constable.

      
 Through further investigations, Farooq Ahmad Padroo was taken into custody and he accepted his guilt, “I took from Rehman on one pretext and later made a plan to kill him in a fake encounter at Ganderbal. The whole plan came into voyage in collusion with SP Hans Raj Parihar, DSP Bahadur Ram and some personnel of SOG”. While talking to Rehman’s wife, Muneera told, “When Rehman disappeared, Farooq Ahmad Padroo accompanied me to various police stations in the valley to track Rehman, to gain the family’s sympathy and shield himself from suspicion but he refused to accompany us to Ganderbal, saying ‘it is highly infested with militants and he won’t put his life at risk’. We became suspicious and rushed to Ganderbal. At Ganderbal police station, we came to know about a dead body that resembled more like Rehman”.

       
Later police exhumed that body from Sumbal (Batmohalla) on February 1, 2007. On seeing the dead body Ghulam Rasool, father of Abdur Rehman Padder cried acrimoniously and said, “ya Allah! What the brutal cops have done to my son, I can still recognize him. He is my son Rehman”.

         
The dead body of Rehman showed no sign of decomposition. It was smeared with blood. More than one and half month before, police murdered Rehman, mutilated his face, and then hastily buried him.

     
About five thousand people assembled in the area, staged demonstration against the SOG, which murdered Rehman. The police and army officials cordoned the graveyard and placed barbed wires around it. The protesters shouted anti-army slogans and demanded that media persons should be a witness to the exhumation process. Succumbing to the public pressure, the police allowed the journalists to witness the exhumation. 

      
Experts took the samples from the body of Rehman for DNA matching.  Later the body was taken in a procession around the village and Rehman’s body was laid to rest at his ancestral graveyard at Kokernag.     

  
Following the exhumation, police started verifying reports of other fake encounter killings and later exhumed four more bodies in  Kangan, Ganderbal, Ajas- Bandipora, Bazipora, Sumbal areas of Kashmir. The dead bodies were identified as Ghulam Nabi Wani, Nazir Ahmad Deka, Ali Muhammad Padroo, all residents of Kokernag in Islamabad (Anantnag) district, and Molvi Shaukat Ahmad Kataria of Banihal. The SOG personnel and Indian armed forces killed them in different fake encounters.

      
The faces of the victims were mutilated with bullets apparently to make their identification difficult while in police FIR’s, they were all registered as Pakistani militants.

NAZIR AHMED DEKA, 35, SON OF ABDUL RAHIM DEKA RESIDENT OF DEVSU DEKSUM, KOKERNAG, DISTRICT ISLAMABAD (ANANTNAG).

      
On February 2, 2007, body of perfume seller Nazir Ahmed Deka was exhumed from the grave in Ganderbal and identified by his wife Tasleema. 

When the body was pulled out, it was decomposed beyond recognition after a year of his killing. But some clues were evident: the perfume bottle that Deka carried in his pocket and the thermals that he wore under his clothes. 

Tasleema along with her two children — son Umad Nazir, 2, and daughter Aneesa Nazir, 3, gave samples for DNA matching. 

Police learnt that after Deka went missing on February 16 2006. He was actually arrested by some unidentified uniformed persons outside Biscoe School, Lal Chowk, Srinagar. He was killed in a fake encounter at Bhaderkund, Ganderbal on the same night (February 16). Deka was dubbed as Nazir Moulvi, a Pakistani militant of Lashkar-e-Toiba by the SOG. 

Farooq Ahmad Paddroo, SOG constable approached Tasleema offering help in the capacity of a policeman. “He would accompany the family to the SOG Headquarters and other police stations making her sit outside and then go inside with Deka’s picture, pretending he was looking for him. He then demanded money, telling Tasleema he needed to pay bribe to check for Deka’s whereabouts. She had nothing but he even took rupees 500 from her recently,” said an investigating officer. 

     
After hours of digging at the grave yard, the body was brought out and Tasleema saw the perfume bottle, then the thermals Deka used to wear underneath his clothes and she knew it was her husband she was looking at.

 Last year in the month of June a dead body was recovered in the mysterious condition from a graveyard nearby Devsu Deksum, Kokernag, and the body was said to be of Nazir Deka but later Deka’s wife Tasleema and other relatives claimed that the body was not of Deka.

GHULAM NABI WANI, 40, SON OF GHULAM AHMED WANI RESIDENT OF KOKERNAG, ISLAMABAD (ANANTNAG), KASHMIR

On February 2, 2007, dead body of Ghulam Nabi Wani was exhumed. His name "GN" was found tattooed on his arm. Wani’s wife, Saleema and brother Zahoor Ahmed identified it.

Selling bed-sheets in Lalchowk, footpath vendor Wani had disappeared on March 2, 2006, from Lal Chowk in Srinagar in first week of March last year. Father of five children, Wani has been killed as a "foreign militant" and buried in the village graveyard at Ajas. 

SOG and 13 Rashtriya Rifles (13 RR) battalion of army murdered him, on the night of March 8 in Dodhwan, Sumbal.  But Wani entered into police records through (FIR (52/2006) filed on March 14) as Zulfikar Ahmad, the militant from Pakistan administered Kashmir. Armed forces had claimed they recovered arms and ammunition from him.

    
On the next day, SOG personnel handed Wani’s dead body to the caretakers of graveyard namely Manzoor Ahmad, Sonaullah Rather, and Muhammad Amin and were asked to bury Wani. “When police handed over his body to us and told us to bury him, we refused. His skull had collapsed and you couldn’t figure out, how it would have looked. The only distinct mark we still remember was the tattooed initials “GN” on his left arm,”said Manzoor, Sonaullah and Amin.

Zahoor, the younger brother of Wani said, “He had tattooed the initials of his name, Ghulam Nabi GN as in blue ink on his left arm”. 

Maqbool Ahmad of Forensic Science Laboratory, who has performed autopsies of almost all those who died in the Kashmiri struggle, unfolded the shroud exposing the skeletal remains of Wani. Only the posterior half of Wani’s skull, with jagged hairs, was still intact. It seemed the skull had been neatly cut into two halves, and the murderers had retained the front portion, the face, to confuse any attempt at identifying Wani. “Martyrs are buried with clothes on, and without giving them ablution”, the local residents said. With scissors, Maqbool tore the damp remains of Wani’s clothes, fully exposing the body. The winter dampness had seeped into the body”.

     
Zahoor was called up. As he looked up at the body, he broke down and uttered a few sobs. He was consoled. Maqbool was looking for the jawbone to extract a tooth the forensic team from Chandigarh needed for DNA sampling. He found some teeth in the hollow skull, and with the help of pliers pulled out a molar, then pulled out the nail from Wani’s small finger, scraped a piece of skin off Wani’s chest, and finally removed the kneecap, neatly dropping each anatomical specimen in a plastic box. Policemen showed Zahoor the torn pieces of clothes and asked him if these were his brother’s. He nodded. 

 
“Till yesterday I hoped he would turn up some day; it is clear now. I am now a widow”’ said Saleema, widow of Wani.

Two government gunmen (Ikhwanis), Ishfaq and Asghar alias Dev, had taken rupees 10,000 from Saleema, promising her a meeting with Wani.

Shahid, 5, the youngest son of Wani’s five children sat in Saleema’s lap. A forensic expert pricked Shahid’s finger and with a syringe drew out blood, which would be matched with his father’s tissues for a DNA match. 
     
The body was wrapped in shroud and placed in a plywood coffin. People immediately demanded the custody of the body and marched with it on the roads raised slogans against SOG and army.

MOULVI SHAUKAT AHMED KATARIA, 27, SON OF NOOR ALAM, RESIDENT OF DOLIGAM, BANIHAL 

         
Residents at Bazipora revealed that on October 5, 2006, SOG Ganderbal and Rashtriya Rifles (RR) 13 batallion had handed over to them a bullet-riddled dead body and claimed that the "foreign militant" had got killed in an encounter with them outside the same village on the previous night. With the registration of FIR 203/2006, officials on that day had claimed that the "foreign militant, namely Abu Hamza of Lashkar-e-Toiba" got killed in an encounter with RR 13 Batallion and SOG Ganderbal. One AK-56 rifle, two grenades and two magazines had been claimed recovered from the "foreign militant". When the dead body at Bazipora was exhumed for DNA testing, it turned out to be that of Shaukat Ahmed Kataria. Shaukat’s father Noor Alam and other relatives identified it. 
  
 “Please dig him out, I have to take him home,” said Noor Alam, as he stamped his thumb impression on a paper giving his consent to police to exhume the body of his son Shaukat, from a graveyard on a roadside in Bazipora village. Noor Alam had come all the way from a remote village, Doligam Nokoot Jabri in Banihal area of Jammu’s Doda district, some 200 kilometres from Srinagar, to witness his son’s exhumation. His two sons had also come along.

Shaukat was the Imam of a mosque in Alamgari Bazar of Srinagar. He had memorized half the Holy Quran and received education from top Islamic seminaries in Gujarat and Uttar Pradesh states of India. Every Friday when he preached from the pulpit, his bearded face would be the focus of the prayerful. “The murderers had obliterated the same face with bullets,” said Abdul Salam Bhat who had buried Shaukat in October last year.

The grave was opened. Local people insisted they would do the digging, as “we don’t believe in police”. First a shoe came out with a shovel full of earth. A forensic official descended into the grave and bought out a damp shirt. Then the body was bought out and laid out on the ground of nearby Electric Receiving Station. In the presence of Deputy Inspector General of Police, Farooq Ahmad, and other top civilian and medical officers of Bandipora, the team of forensic experts from India collected samples from the body of Shaukat, which was decomposed beyond recognition probably because the grave was very close to a pond. The dampness had quickened the putrefaction.

Haji Mushtaq Ahmad of Alamgari Bazar was the last person to see Shaukat on the night of October 14, 2006. “He dined at my home and was about to go to bed in one of our bedrooms when he said ‘I have to lock the main gate of mosque’. At dawn prayers, I didn’t found him in the mosque and inquired from the people. They said they had no idea. We thought he might have gone to visit his friend, an Imam, in Zahidpora, but we didn’t found him there. Then we filed a report in Zadibal police station,” Haji Mushtaq said.

Haji Mushtaq was called to identify the body or the remnants of clothes on it: a tattered brown pheran (traditional Kashmiri dress) and muddied pyjamas. “He was wearing a beige salwar kameez and a sandal when I last saw him,” Haji Mushtaq told police. 
Abdul Salam Bhat and others who had buried Shaukat said, “I remember his skull had collapsed, his feet were swollen. They had scraped the flesh off his fingers with razors; his private organ had been cut. They had tortured him before killing him.”

Army’s Rashtriya Rifles battalion and SOG had murdered Shaukat on a hillock, some 200 meters from his grave. The villagers complained to the DIG Farooq that the day Shaukat was killed; army had beaten them en masse. “Army did not allow eating Ramzan meals and even our children were beaten. They told us they have killed this Pakistani militant (Shaukat) and four others escaped. They said we have been sheltering this Pakistani militant.”

Thousands of the people participated in the last rites of Shaukat on February 4, 2007, chanting pro-freedom, anti-India and anti-army slogans. The body was taken to the Sub District Hospital and later it was handed over to his family members.

The Jammu-Srinagar highway remained closed for an hour when the Shaukat’s funeral procession passed by. Shouting slogans against army and the police, people took the body of Shaukat to his native village Jabri where Shaukat was buried. 
ALI MOHAMMAD PADROO, SON OF GHULAM AHMED PADDAR, RESIDENT OF MATIGAWRAN, KOKERNAG.

The three Padroo brothers, Farooq Ahmad, Abdul Rashid, and Ghulam Hassan lined up near the grave that was being opened up in the martyr’s graveyard of Kangan, Ganderbal. As the body was brought out of the grave and placed inside the plywood coffin, the three brothers knelt down, looked at the body closely. The youngest one, Farooq sighed, “Yes, it is his body. We remember the clothes he was wearing.”
They said it was the body of their eldest brother Ali Muhammad Padroo, a watchman in Block Office in Kokernag, Islamabad (Anantnag). Police hastily took away the body in the coffin to Kangan Sub-District Hospital, where forensic experts extracted tissue samples for DNA testing. 

A father of five kids, Ali Padroo went missing on March 7 2006 from his home in MotiGawran, Kokernag. The three brothers had no idea that behind Paddar’s disappearance is the wicked mind of Farooq Ahmed Padroo, the accused constable of SOG. Farooq lived in Larnoo, the neighbouring village and belonged to the same caste, Padroo. “Farooq was friend of Ali Muhammad. He came to our home many a times. He told me that ‘Ali Muhammad probably went to buy a Sumo vehicle in Jalandhar. He might be in some trouble there.’ He took rupees 50,000 from us and then I and with my brother went with him to Jalandhar to search for Ali Muhammad. After ten days, we came back. How could have I ever known that he was the murderer,” said Shamima, wife of Ali Muhammad.

Bashir Ahmad, a fruit seller at Kangan had buried Ali Muhammad at Kangan graveyard in March last year. He said, “Left side of his face was mutilated. I suppose they had fired many bullets in his head. His shirt was burnt, his eyes had been gouged out, and many parts of his body bore injury marks as if he had been hit by explosives. The SHO Kangan handed over his body. Bashir further told ‘he is not a militant’; let us wait for sometime, maybe his relatives might claim the body. But nobody turned up. Then we buried him.”
According to the official statement, SOG Ganderbal and troops of RR 24 Batallion had killed a "foreign militant” in an encounter at Keri Nallah, near Hariganwan, in Kangan area during the intervening night of March 7 and 8, 2006. Officials had identified the slain "foreign militant" as "Shaheen Bhai of Pakistan". One AK-56 rifle was claimed to have been recovered from him and later he was buried with the help of local people at Hariganwan. When the body was exhumed, it turned out to be that of a junior employee of Rural Development Department, namely Ali Mohammad Padroo son of Ghulam Ahmed Padroo resident of Matigawran, Kokernag.

The DNA samples of Padroo and Moulvi Shaukat were taken after their bodies were exhumed from Batmohalla Sumbal and Baazipora Ajas by a team of doctors from the Forensic Science Laboratory Chandigarh on February 1 and 3, 2007, respectively.

FORENSIC SCIENCE LABORATORY (FSL) CHANDIGARH REPORT:

 “We have received the DNA report (from FSL, Chandigarh) of Abdur Rehman Padder. The tests match with the samples taken from his relatives. The report is conclusive scientific evidence that he was a civilian and not a Pakistani militant as stated by the accused (policemen),” Deputy Inspector General of Police, Farooq Ahmad, who supervises the Special Investigation Team (SIT) probing the case, told on February 22,2007.

       
Later the other four DNA samples received from the four dead bodies of Ghulam Nabi Wani, Nazir Ahmad Deka, Ali Muhammad Padroo, all residents of Kokernag in Islamabad district, and Molvi Shaukat Ahmad Kataria of Banihal killed in different fake encounters by SOG and armed forces, were also confirmed positive. 

 
The DNA results have cleared the legal hitches for police to file charge sheet against the prime accused, the Superintendent of Police (SP) Hansraj Parihar, his deputy Bahadur Ram and at least 18 cops of the SOG.

Inspector General of Police (IGP) Kashmir SM Sahai told, “We have arrested both the officials and investigations are on.” 

The arrest was ordered after SIT probing the fake encounters exhumed five bodies of the victims in the different graveyards in north Kashmir Baramulla district and Ganderbal on the city outskirts from past three days.  During investigation, police found concrete evidence against accused officials in the killing of civilians for getting promotions and rewards. 

A case of abduction and murder under section 364, 302 RPC has been registered against the accused officers. “Parihar was leading the SOG team, which killed Abdur Rehman Padder, Nazir Ahmad Deka of Kokernag,” states official reports.

Commenting on the arrests, Director General (DG) police Gopal Sharma said it was police who themselves took up the investigation to reach the bottom of the case.

“This is not the first time that police took action against its own men. In 2003, he said, a DSP was dismissed from service for killing a civilian. However, he was absconding and we are after him.We will proceed against anybody found involved in the killing of the innocents in fake encounters,” DG police added.

On January 31 2007, Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad announced in Legislative Assembly to hold a time-bound probe by a sitting High Court judge into the custodial killing of the Abdur Rehman Padder carpenter from Kokernag, Azad said that since the sitting judges “don’t have ample time to probe killings and are too much occupied with their routine work,” the probe could be handed over to a retired judge. “Though judicial probe has been ordered into the matter in time-bound period of three months, yet the investigation already initiated would be carried on so that no loophole is allowed to creep in and mar the investigation.” 
  
“The will of the government in bringing the culprits to book is clear. We could have hidden the facts but we want to get to its roots,” Azad said, adding, “I must tell you that police officials who killed Padder (the carpenter) are killers and they would get the same punishment which is given to murderers.” 
 
The Chief Minister said the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) would be strengthened and made more effective. “We will take every step to empower the SHRC. If they need more staff, government is ready to provide them the same,” he said, adding, “I must assure the honorable members that all the recommendations upholding human rights would be implemented.”

The words delivered by the government officials hardly make any difference in the number of disappearances and fake encounters of innocent civilians of Kashmir on Indian troop’s side. One can analyze  from the history of  past 18 years of Kashmir, how brutally Indian armed forces killed Kashmiri youth and when the investigation was launched in some cases, they found them guilty but no proper measures /actions were taken so far against the perpetrators . There are so many instances, the prime one is Pathribal fake encounter case. 

PROTESTS AGAINST FAKE ENCOUNTERS

When the expose of fake encounter killings came forth thousands of Kashmiris took to streets & staged huge demonstrations. Raising slogans against the state government, India troops and SOG, protesters demanded the whereabouts of all the disappeared persons who were picked by the Army and other agencies from the past eighteen years of conflict.

They also demanded the investigations in all the disappeared cases and punishment for those police officials who were involved in the killing of the innocent civilians and branding them as militants to secure ranks and medals. The series of massive protests against the custodial disappearance continued through out the month of February across the valley. 


February 1: “Blood of civilians killed in fake encounters has spoken today. We want an end to the state terrorism; leave our Kashmir,” a protester shouted when a CRPF trooper tried to stop him from entering the graveyard Sumbal (Botmohalla) where the dead body of Padder was exhumed. Nearly 5,000 people assembled around the grave yard. The crowd could not control its emotions and attacked the police with stones. Police fired dozens of tear smoke shells and cane-charged the protesters to disperse them. The protesters regrouped and again clashed with troops.


February 2: Police fired several rounds of ammunition in air and used force to disperse the agitated protestors who demonstrated near the grave of Nazir Ahmad Deka at Salura Ganderbal, as a team of CFL Chandigarh was busy in exhuming the body. The angry protestors shouted slogans against the coalition government and tried to break the cordon to which police retaliated and fired several rounds of ammunition in the air. 


February: Many thousand villagers including women crowded around the graveyard at Ajas. The police had laid coils of razor wire around the graveyard to prevent the people from entering it. The villagers shouted slogans against army, Indian democracy, and SOG all the while the police were exhuming Wani’s body. They were demanding that SP Parihar, the accused officer, should be hanged. On their shoulders they took the coffin and marched towards Bazipora village, a kilometer away, where another body was being exhumed.

Banihal, February 4: Chanting pro-freedom, anti-India and anti-army slogans, thousands of people participated in the last rites of a local Imam who was murdered last year by army and SOG in Srinagar, and later dubbed as foreign militant.

The body of Shaukat Kataria was exhumed from a graveyard in Bazipora village of Bandipora in North Kashmir district of Baramulla amidst massive protest demonstrations by the local people there. On his father Noor Alam’s request the body was taken to his native place Banihal. The Jammu-Srinagar highway remained closed for an hour when the funeral procession passed by.Shouting slogans against army and police, people took the body of Shaukat to his native village Jabri, 7 kilometers from Banihal town. The enraged residents were demanding action against army and police involved in such killings.

February 5: Doda: A large number of the people took out a procession demanding digging of the troops camp premises at Tourist Hut, Dandi, two kilometers from Bhaderwah town where security forces were camping for the past 14 years and used it as an interrogation center.

People took to the streets here demanding whereabouts of the two persons missing since their alleged arrest, close on the heels of exhumation of bodies of those killed in alleged fake encounters in Kashmir.

Ghulam Nabi Ganai, general secretary of the Anjuman-Islamia Bhaderwah said three graves were found at the Tourist Hut, Dandi after the security forces vacated the place.

He also demanded digging of the three graves. ‘’We are doubtful about three graves as they may be of those youths who were missing during the last so many years,’’ he said. 


February 10: “A commission should be set up to probe all the disappearances and punish the guilty,” said the people who had gathered under the banner of Association of Parents of Disappeared persons (APDP), a local grouping that spearheads the fight for the missing men. 

 
They said they had lost faith in the probes ordered by the successive regimes from time to time. “Instead of punishing the guilty soldiers, the authorities award them with medals, money and promotions,” they added.

Srinagar, February 11: Relatives of three persons, including two brothers, who went missing in the custody of police, staged demonstrations in downtown. 

Reports said a team of Delhi police arrested the brothers Muhammad Shafi Rah and Mushtaq Ahmad Rah of Safa Kadal during a raid in 2000 in Kathmandu, Nepal where they had been doing their shawl business. Since then the duo is missing. 

Hundreds of people staged demonstrations, demanding their whereabouts and shouting slogans against government. 

Meanwhile, protests were also held at Noorbagh against the disappearance of Bashir Ahmad Dar son of Muhammad Subhan in the custody of SOG in 2005. 

February 15: Hundreds of locals, including women and children took to streets in Nishat and Shalimar areas of Srinagar in protest against the alleged custodial disappearance of Muhammad Rafiq.

Shops and business establishments in the areas, adjacent to Mughal Gardens, remained closed and traffic remained off the roads.

The demonstrators alleged that Rafiq was arrested by the Army’s 34 Rashtriya Rifles on June 18, 2002

 When he left for Jammu in his Sumo vehicle.However, his whereabouts were not known after his arrest, they said. The family members suspect that Rafiq had been killed by the forces and later buried at some unknown place after labelling him as a foreign militant. A procession was taken out in the Civil Lines area demanding whereabouts about the missing persons. However, the precisionists, after marching through different streets, including busy Budshah Chowk, dispersed peacefully.

New Delhi, February 22: Activists of civil liberty and democratic rights organizations staged a dharna (sit in) near Parliament House against the fake encounters in Jammu and Kashmir.

The dharna organized by ‘Jan Hastakshep’, a group of intellectuals campaigning against fascist designs, urged the Centre to repeal Armed Forces (Special) Powers Act (J&K AFSPA) in Jammu & Kashmir, which has been misused all along for suppression of the people of the state.

The activists also demanded a swift and strict action against army and police personnel involved in killing of innocent Kashmiri citizens in ‘’fake encounters”.

“Even though there is no formal declaration of emergency or war in Jammu and Kashmir, the Indian State has been chosen for the misuse the words “disturbed area” and the draconian AFSPA, striking terror in the hearts of Kashmiris”, said Dr. N K Bhattacharya, convenor of Jan Hastakshep.

Later, the protesters submitted a memorandum to President A.P.J. Kalam urging him to withdraw army from the state and for restoration of civil rights of the people of Kashmir.

Condemning the recently unearthed extra-judicial killings and cold-blooded murder of five Kashmiris, the memorandum said that the security forces had been behaving like occupational forces leaving no scope for excercise of democratic rights by the people there. 
February 23: People took to streets in protest against fake encounter killings and custodial disappearance of youths in the Kashmir valley.

 
Led by a senior leader of the Hurriyat Conference Masarat Alam, people at Shaheed Gunj took to streets immediately after offering Friday prayers in the local mosques.

 
Raising slogans against the state government and security forces, the demonstrators were demanding immediate action against those involved in the custodial disappearance of thousands of people in the valley.

 
They later marched through different streets, including historic Lal Chowk and Regal chowk before dispersing peacefully.

Similar protests were held at Dalgate against alleged custodial disappearance of a local youth.

The demonstrators, mostly women, alleged that one Firdous Ahmad was picked up in 2000 by the security forces in the area without any reason.

The family members said that they had visited all the interrogation and detention centers in the state but could not get any clue about his whereabouts.


February 23: Hundreds of people assembled at Humhama Chowk and lodged their strong protest against the custodial disappearance of some of the persons who are missing for a long time now. 

 
Reports said that people of the Humhama area after offering the Friday prayers assembled at the main chowk and started protesting against the custodial disappearances. These people were seeking the whereabouts of the persons who are missing since 1997. 

Those who are missing since December 12, 1997 are Ghulam Mohi-ud-din Mir, Mohammad Ashaq Malik, resident of Hyderpora, Farooq Ahmad Waza resident of Hyderpora, Ghulam Mohammad Rather resident of Haran and Ghulam Mohi-ud-din Dar resident of Sebdan-Budgam. 
FATE OF 5 DISAPPEARED PERSONS UNKNOWN

Mohammad Mushtaq Gujjar of Surankote, Jammu disappeared along with his four cousins from Dalgate, Srinagar on 13-06-2005.  


The names of the cousins are Mohammad Rafi son of Mohammad Aslam, Abdul Majeed son of Faiz Mohammad, Mohammad Javiad son of Mohammad Sadiq, Mushtaq Ahmed son of Said Mohammad; all residents of Sanglani – Surankote, Poonch district, Jammu. 


Mohammad Bashir Gujjar father of Mushtaq Gujjari revealed to The Informative Missive, “All the five had come to Srinagar to work as labourers. 

Meanwhile, they had gone to Lal Sharief Shrine, Kangan to participate in an Urs (religious festival). After attending the Urs, they were persuaded by one person from their village who was working in Srinagar to stay and work in Srinagar. 

All of them decided to work as labourers and they rented some rooms at Nowpora near Bilal Masjid in Srinagar. 

On June 13, 2005, they along with other labourers assembled at the bund near Dalgate where the labourers assembled on daily basis to get daily assignments for construction work.   

One person namely, Shaheen who presented himself as a contractor approached them and told that he is need of 10 labourers for work, which they agreed upon. The said person told them that they have to work at Kupwara district, 100 kilometers away from Srinagar. One of the labourers from Poonch asked this person to give his mobile number, which he gave. After leaving for Kupwara when they didn’t return for weeks neither contacted their colleagues. One of their colleagues Mehboob Khan contacted them on mobile number 9419037610. When contacted on the mobile number, the respondent gave vague replies like he is an SSP police, he is a Peer Baba (Saint) and he shouldn’t be disturbed and so on and said Shaheen is not available. Thereby, the families of the victims were forced to file a missing report in Nehru Park Police Station, Dalgate. As per mobile verification, the mobile number is in the name of one Mohammad Sadiq Malik. It has been further verified that the mobile operator is one Abdul Qayoom who is linked with the army”.

 “Ironically, one Mohammad Javaid called from a telephone booth to his father working in Saudi Arabia but failed to communicate due to poor phone services. Abdul Qayoom was arrested by the Ram Bagh police station, Sonwar about whom we lodged an FIR that we suspect him behind the disappearance of our loved ones. On the intervention of Aashiq Bukhari SSP, Anantnag, Qayoom was released after a week. Thereafter, we approached the media and made public the report of their disappearances on 10-07-2005. Even Usman Majeed renegade turned politician told the families to go to militants as they are with them,” said Bashir. 

Out of five disappeared persons, Mohammad Mushtaq and Abdul Majeed are married. Both have minor children, the former has a 2 year old daughter and the latter has a 2 year old son.  The daughter-in-law of Bashir Gujjar filed a case against her father-in-law in Munsiff Court for payment of Mehar (dower) and maintenance. 

MINOR DISAPPEARED

In the intervening night of 25 & 26 January 2005, Waheed Ahmed, 7, son of Fareed Ahmed, resident of Muhallah Qureshia, Tehsil Mendhar, District Poonch, was allegedly abducted by unidentified gunmen from his house and since then his whereabouts are unknown.

Manzoor Hussain, grandfather of Waheed, approached the office of Public Commission on Human Rights and filed case of his disappeared grand son Waheed.

Manzoor Hussain, while talking to The Informative Missive said, “We are living under extreme poverty and my son Fareed is working in Saudi Arabia to support the family. Zameer Ahmed (army personnel) son of Mohammad Latif Malik often used to visit us. On the night of 25 and 26 January 2005 at 10.30 pm, three unidentified gunmen came to our house. They asked for food and we allowed them in. It was dark as the electricity went off. As soon as they entered the house, I told my daughter-in-law to prepare meals for them and she went in the kitchen. The gunmen instructed me to get inside the kitchen and I obeyed them. As soon as I entered the kitchen, they bolted the door of the kitchen from outside. However, Waheed was with them. We tried very hard to open the door and after 10 minutes when we broke the door, and found that the unidentified gunmen had kidnapped Waheed and left the house”.

 Next day morning, Manzoor Hussain lodged an FIR under section 364 RBC 66/05 in the Police Station Gorsai”. The FIR reads: “On 25th January 2005 night at 10.30 pm three veiled persons one having a torch in his hand standing at the door and other two entered into the house of Manzoor Hussain forced the family to give them food. When family allowed them to enter in their home, the gunmen ordered them to get inside kitchen and locked the door of the kitchen from outside and kidnapped his grand son Waheed Ahmad (7)”.

After one year of futile search, Manzoor Hussain said, “One person namely Maqbool Hussain son of Muhammad Sharief Gujjar, resident of Talab Pani Tehsil Kalakote, District Rajouri approached us and said that if we give him rupees 50,000, he will deliver us back our Waheed. Maqbool was an informer working for the army. On 17 March 2005, he saw Waheed with army personnel, Hawaldar Santosh Kumar, in Poonch”.

 Quoting Maqbool, Manzoor Hussain said, “Santosh had asked Maqbool to get some biscuits for Waheed. However, instead giving him the money we informed police station Gorsai that Waheed is with army”. 


“Police arrested Santosh and Maqbool but later an army Brigadier got Santosh out of the jail because army at Jammu and Kashmir enjoys all the powers. I was ready to make a confession statue under section C.R.P.C. before the magistrate; however I was threatened by the army not to involve them or be ready to face the consequences.  I approached the High Court (Jammu wing) in this regard and a filed case under petition no.830/2006”, adds Manzoor.


 High Court on 24 April, 2006 directed Senior Superintendent of Police, Rajouri and investigation officer to carry out investigation in the concerned matter and submit case details to High Court (Jammu wing) on May 3, 2007.       

DESPAIR, HOPE AMONG FAMILIES OF KOKERNAG’S MISSING

KOKERNAG, February 6: The disclosures regarding killing of missing civilians in fake encounters by police have brought both despair and hope to Nissar Ahmad Lone of Luhur village here whose brother disappeared after arrest four years ago. 

“I don’t know if I will see my brother Fayaz Ahmad Lone who was picked by troops of 36 Rashtriya Rifles at Islamabad,” Nissar told. “I’m in dilemma; now ether we will receive his body like four families of Kokernag or see him alive,” he said. 
A father of three children, Fayaz was picked up by troops from his sister’s house on December 22, 2002, said Nisar. 
“The RR soldiers raided the area and picked up Fayaz. We went to the police station but police refused to register an FIR,” he said. 

Finally after the intervention of senior police officers a case was registered against the accused troops. 

“Police failed to arrest the accused. Troops and police offered us money to hush up the case but we declined,” he said. “My father has developed psychological disorders after Fayaz’s disappearance. We want justice.” 

In another disappearance case, Nazir Ahmad Nayak of Gadhol said police picked his brother Muhammad Amin Nayak, 18, a vegetable vendor five years ago. “We haven’t seen him since then,” Nazir said. 

“The police didn’t filed an FIR when my brother was picked by police,” he said.
 According to Nazir, after the recent revelations, the police took the photograph of Amin, but didn’t give any details. “Police said they are investigating,” Nazir added. 

WAS IT A CROSSFIRE KILLING?
Raja and Ghulam Ahmed Bhat, an ailing couple is yet to come out of the shock of their innocent son’s killing by the troops in Sopore. Couple residing in a small dwelling in north district Baramulla at Nowpora village in Sopore, around 53 kilometers from Srinagar. Their son, Mohammad Ashraf Bhat, a vendor who was working at Sopore was killed on December 22, 2006 when the militants ambushed an army convoy of 80 Mountain brigade. By the indiscriminate firing of the troops, another person Bashir Ahmed Khan son of Ghulam Ahmed of Badambagh Sopore was also killed along with Muhammad Ashraf where as two civilians, Fayaz Ahmed Kaboo also got injured in the incident. 

The incident triggered massive anti-India and pro-freedom demonstrations in the town that continued for many days after the incident.

Ghulam Ahmad Bhat, father of deceased Mohammad Ashraf said while talking to The Informative Missive, “On 22nd December, 2006 at around 1:15pm, an army convoy of 80 mountain brigade was passing through Sopore Chowk and in the meantime militants attacked the convoy. Army resorted to indiscriminate firing and a fierce exchange of the fire occurred that lasted for several minutes till the convoy left the spot. During the firing, panic gripped the whole town. People rushed for safer places. My son was working as a footwear vendor at Sopore Chowk. As firing broke out, Ashraf rushed towards Degree College Sopore along with two other persons, Bashir Ahmad khan and a merchant from Baramulla for their safety. They had taken refuge in the college till the convoy left the place. After the situation got a little normal, Ashraf along with other persons came out of the college. Meanwhile the patrolling party of BSF cordoned off the town and a BSF vehicle appeared on the road. A Sikh soldier in the vehicle spotted Ashraf and two other persons coming out of the college and opened fire at them. He kept on firing even after the army convoy had passed from the scene. The firing caused death of Mohammad Ashraf and Bashir Ahmad whereas the merchant from Baramulla had a narrow escape as he jumped into the nearby graveyard. Ashraf had received many bullets in the chest and right leg that caused his instant death”. 

The troops went away from the spot, hundreds of people came out on the streets, raising slogans against the army and in favor of freedom from India. The protesters were demanding the action against the perpetrators and a probe into the matter. When the number of protesters swelled, police swung into action and resorted to baton-charge and lobbed teargas shells to disperse them. The protesters retaliated by hurling stones on the police and soldiers. The police rushed Ashraf and Bashir to the hospital where they were declared brought dead. Finally the residents of Nowpora and other adjacent village brought Ashraf’s dead body to the native village in the form of a procession. People of the area protested incessantly for four days and demanded for justice.


Raja 50, mother of the slain Ashraf wailed, “Ashraf was youngest in the family and was innocent why was he killed? He was at the spot earning his livelihood and supporting his three minors, Aamir (9), Nahida (6) and Kaisar (4), wife Meema and old aged parents. Most of our family responsibilities were lying on him. What made the brutal troops to kill him and snatch his support from us? My husband is ailing and often remains sick. Now who will come to nourish the minor orphans and the old parents? 

“Local MLA Abdul Gani Wakeel and other government officers visited our house and assured us of the justice but so far neither the probe was ordered nor was any action taken by the administration. The promises of justice was a mere eyewash”, complains Raja.    

“The civilians were killed when our soldiers retaliated to the firing by militants. The militants were firing from a building on the army convoy,” said the army spokesman Hemant Juneja. 

FOR POLICE, POLIO-STRICKEN YOUTH CAN CROSS MOUNTAINS OF LOC

SRINAGAR, February 13: In the wake of recent expose of fake encounter killings, a family from southern Islamabad district is dead sure their son who went missing 17 years ago, lies buried in some graveyard. Police rubbed salt into the family’s wounds by claiming that the youth, crippled by polio, had crossed the tough terrain of the Line of Control for arms training.

The victim Farooq Ahmad Rather son of Assadullah Rather of Chandpora, Bijbehara was disabled since his birth. But that did not dampen his spirit to pursue education. A student of B.Sc 2nd year in Degree College Islamabad, Farooq, according to his family, was picked up by unidentified security agency when he was on way to the college on November 3, 1990. He was 20 then.

 
His family rushed to the local police station for lodging an FIR, which the officials refused. The family approached the Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Islamabad. He too expressed his helplessness. 

For 12 years, the Rather family searched for Farooq’s whereabouts in police stations, security camps, interrogations centers and jails in the state, but in vain. Finally in 2002, they knocked the doors of the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC). 


After hearing the complaint, the SHRC directed the Inspector General of Police (IGP) Kashmir Zone, Deputy Commissioner and SSP Islamabad to furnish a report in the matter. Accordingly, they filed their reports which were based on the investigation of the SSP. 

 
“In this connection, report obtained from SSP Anantnag (Islamabad) reveals that the brother of the complainant namely Farooq Ahmad Rather had gone across the LoC for obtaining training of illicit arms/ammunition and got killed on the LoC during an encounter with security forces when he was trying to intrude into the valley. The family has not lodged a missing report of the matter in concerned police station,” reads the report (ZPHQ/HRC-1400/ 7912-13 Dt April 28, 2003) of the IGP to the SHRC. 


In their rejoinder to the SHRC, the family termed the IGP’s report as “false and baseless”. “My brother was not able to even walk properly how could he have crossed the LoC? He was not affiliated with any militant group and was pursuing his education,” his brother Shabir said.

 
“Police story is totally fabricated. In their report, there is no mention of exact date or place when the encounter took place, neither they have mentioned that any FIR has been lodged regarding the incident,” he said. “It is now clear that my brother too has been killed in a fake encounter. We only want punishment to his killers.” 

In support of his contention, Shabir had produced four witnesses and a report of doctors before the commission to establish that his brother was suffering from polio. 

 
Assistant Surgeon PHC Bijbehra in his report states: “Certified that I have examined Farooq Ahmad Rather son of Assadullah Rather of Chandpora Bijbehra Anantnag (Islamabad) on 20.10.88; his age is about 19 years as per his own statement and by appearance. Opinion: Polio on right side of the thigh leg.” 

 
However, the report of the SHO Bijbehara states that Farooq was not a militant. “It is submitted that the matter was verified by one ASI namely Ghulam Muhammad (N0 7400/NGO) of this police station. During verification, it was found that the subject (Farooq Ahmad) was a student of B.Sc 2nd year and studying in Govt Degree College Anantnag. On 3.11.1990 the subject proceeded towards the College from his home since then his whereabouts are not known. In this regard his relative approached civil/ security authorities but all in vain,” the SHO wrote to the Sub Divisional Police Officer Bijbehra vide (6/8/5A/5 dated September 22, 2005) 

 
“As per the report of the verifying officer and some respectable persons the subject was not involved in any subversive activity. There is nothing adverse against him as per records of this police station. It is worth mentioning that the subject was suffering from Polio in his right leg,” the report states. 

 
“If complainant’s missing brother was killed trying to intrude inot the valley, the police authorities should have informed them on the very day or should have handed over the dead body of the deceased to them or atleast let them know the place where his brother was buried. But there is no mention about all these facts in the said report of the police authorities which makes it vague and concocted,” SHRC member, GQ Mughal states in his judgment on March 3, 2004. 

 
“In view of the above facts, it is presumed that Farooq Ahmad Rather is no more existing in this world and he might have got eliminated somewhere due to militancy-related circumstances,” it notes. 

 
The SHRC had disposed off the case with a recommendation that the ex-gratia relief to the tune of rupees 2 lakh and government job be given to one eligible member of the family. 

CUSTODIAL DEATH 

JAMMU, February 17: According to his family members, 18-year-old Tarseem Lal, was picked up by police on February 17 at 8 AM at Phalan Mandal on the outskirts of Jammu city and two hours after police shifted him to hospital where doctors declared him “brought dead.” 

Tarseem Lal son of Khazan Chand of Mukwal, was working as a labourer. 

“My son was picked up by a police party of Phalan Mandal police post at 8 AM on the pretext that he had abused a youth namely Ghin son of Bagga Ram. And at 10 AM, police brought him to Sub-District Hospital Sohanjana. He was tortured to death in custody and now they are saying that he had consumed some poisonous substance,” said shocked mother Bhajno Devi. 

However, SP Jammu, Zahid Manhas said that the youth Tarseem Lal was lying unconscious outside the gate of Police Post Phalan Mandal, some 20 kilometers from the main city centre. 

He said that some passerby while noticing a person lying in unconscious condition informed the police about the person. 

“The police personnel deployed at police post shifted the unconscious Tarseem to Sub-District Hospital Sohanjana where he breathed his last,” SP said. 

However, people refuse to buy police version saying the youth has been tortured in custody. 

As soon as the news of alleged custodial death spread in the area, people came out to protest pelting stones at police post. 

They set ablaze a police Tata 407 troop carrier and a motorcycle. To pacify the mob police resorted to baton charge and opened fire in which about six villagers got injured. 

Three police officers including Sub-divisional Police Officer wee also injured in the clash. 

The protestors prevented the SSP Jammu Mukesh Singh to visit the spot. Protestors were demanding suspension of the police officers involved in the custodial killing besides a judicial probe into the incident. 

They disallowed the local health authorities to conduct post-mortem and were emphasizing that the board conducts the same so that the local heath authorities don’t shield the police. 

Block Medical Officer, Sohanjana, Ashok Chanyal said that locals didn’t allow them to conduct the post mortem. “We have just held a meeting with Deputy Commissioner and we as per the demands of the locals have decided that post mortem will now be conducted by Board so that there are no allegations of favoritism. It will now be preferably conducted at Government Medical College and Hospital, Jammu,” he said.

Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad Saturday ordered a magisterial enquiry into the alleged custodial killing of Tarseem Lal son of Khazan Chand of Makwal. 

Taking prompt action into the alleged custodial killing of Tarseem Lal, the State Human Rights Commission has asked the Inspector General (IG) Police Jammu Division and Deputy Commissioner Jammu to furnish to it the detailed factual report about the incident by March 13.

 
“The custodial killing of an innocent civilian is a grave human rights violation that needs the enquiry by the commission,” said B N Tingloo, member SHRC who issued notices to the IG and the DC.

ANOTHER YOUTH FALLS TO ARMY BULLETS

February 10: Army allegedly shot dead a man namely Muhammad Afzal Kumhar in cold blood in a south Kashmir village on the night of February 9.

“My son asked for water but the Rashtriya Rifles soldiers pumped bullets into his body. They didn’t allow us to rush him to hospital, he bled to death,” cried Afzal’s mother Rahati, 78. 

Killing of her son Afzal, 38, sparked massive demonstrations on February 10, prompting police to register a murder case against 42-RR of army. Army says Afzal died “in a militant fire in which a Junior Commissioned Officer (JCO) and two soldiers were also killed,” a statement rejected by the villagers as untrue.

A father of two kids, Afzal, an employee of the Hotel Centaur, Srinagar, was in the local mosque reciting Holy Qur’an till 8:37 pm last night when suddenly troops cordoned off the area. 

Afzal’s neighbour Waheed Ahmad said, “The soldiers entered the mosque and dragged him out. 
You can clearly see the footprints of the soldiers on the mosque’s carpet. They placed him against the wall of the mosque and opened fire on him.” 

Hearing gunshots and cries, Rahati said, she rushed out of her house and saw Afzal in a pool of blood. “A soldier was beating him with rifle butts. Afzal told me ‘Mother take I-card from my pocket and show them I am not a militant.’ Before I could show the soldiers his card, they pushed me in a lane, smashed my lantern, and another soldier pumped more bullets into his body,” she said.

“He asked for water but they fired bullets on him, they killed my son before my eyes,” she said as she broke down. The kangri (firepot) and lantern which Afzal carried at the time of the incident was lying in pool of blood near the spot. “He was holding kangri and lantern, not a gun. For what crime was my son killed then?” 

Her another son, Muhammad Munawar, said, “We pleaded before the troops for an hour to let us take Afzal to hospital. But they fired in air and left only when he bled to death.” 

Pointing towards Afzal’s four broken teeth, his uncle Muhammad Ramzan Kumhar said, “After shooting Afzal, the troops kicked his face and dragged his body to another corner of the mosque. They wanted to take the body with them, but seeing a large number of people coming out on the streets they fled.”

In the wee hours, a soldier of RR, according to Munawar, approached him, asking him not to highlight the issue in media. “A soldier of the 42-RR called me, and in broken Kashmiri said, ‘Your brother was killed due to mistaken identity. We could have placed a gun over his body and passed him off as a militant, but we did not. Whatever had to happen has happened. Your family has to live in this village and it would be better for you to forget the issue’.” 

As the news about the killing spread, people of Argam and the neighbouring villages came out on streets and carried the body in a procession. Shouting slogans in favour of freedom from India, the protesters took the body to the Tral Khanqah.
“Down with state terrorism,” “We want freedom,” and “Stop killing of innocents,” they shouted. “Afzal’s murder should be an eye opener for (Chief Minister) Ghulam Nabi Azad who defends troop’ atrocities in the name of fighting militancy,” the protesters shouted. “Commanding officer of the unit, Panjak Kumar apologized and offered money to Afzal’s family. This proves that the troops killed Afzal. We want punishment to the culprits,” they said. 

The protesters also rejected the claim of the troops that their four men were killed in the ‘encounter’. “It is a bundle of lies. Maybe the troops were killed in other place in the district, and to cover up their crime army said they died at Argam.” 
Later, thousands of people, including many pro freedom leaders participated in Afzal’s funeral.

Army spokesman Col AK Mathur refuted the allegations. “Our troops cordoned the area following information that some militants were passing through the area. As our troops challenged a group of militants, they opened fire killing a JCO and two soldiers. This triggered a brief gunfight,” he said. 

“The militants while escaping fired upon our troops. Maybe the civilian died due to it. We came to know that the civilian was killed in the morning,” he said. 

Asked about allegations of the family and the villagers, he said, “It seems to be motivated.”
A police spokesman in a statement said a murder case has been registered against the army. 
“Following the allegations of killing of a civilian in Argam Tral during an encounter, police today registered a FIR against the 42-RR under section 302RPC in police station Tral,” it said. 

LOLAB FAMILIES DEMAND BODIES OF VICTIMS

February 27: Two families in Lolab Kupwara allege that 30 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) troops have killed two men in custody. The families are seeking the help of authorities to get the bodies of their kin. They also demand action against troops. 

 
Habibullah Naik (50) son of Abdul Jabbar and Sams-ud-din War (28) son of Haleem of Diver Lolab were arrested by troops of 18  RR on December 17, 1999. Three days later, troops denied the arrest. The families say they met the duo in the army camp after their detention.

“They were not tortured when we met them two days after the arrest,” the families told. 
They added, “After two days, troops denied the arrest and we met the then commander 8 Sector RR who assured that matter will looked into.”

The families met the sector commander many times but it didn’t help. Then the families knocked the door of the then Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) and District Magistrate (DM) Kupwara. “I will talk to army and your kin will be traced out,” SSP had told the families. After a week the SSP said, “I talked to army, they have not arrested them.”

After the disappointing answers from police, army and state authorities the families started search in jails and kept a close watch on deaths reported.

The search and wait ended when 30 RR claimed to have killed two unidentified militants in an encounter in Watengoo Baramulla during the night of January 30, 2000.

At the camp of 30 RR at Langate the families were shocked to see that whom the army was claiming to be foreign militants killed in an encounter were their missing kin.

“Army told us they have handed over the bodies to locals of Shanoo and Dangiwacha. We could not ask the army why they killed our men in fake encounter and branded them as foreign militants. If we would have done that they would have killed us too,” the families said. 

“They were not militants or linked to militancy, why they were killed then? We want their bodies back and action against the troops,” the families demand. 

HIT BY 27 BULLETS, MAN SURVIVES TO NARRATE HIS TALE

February 12:  “I cannot forget the July 3, 2005 evening when a group of three government gunmen working for Army’s Rashtriya Rifles (RR) barged into our house and fired randomly, leaving me and my mother critically wounded,” recounts the 42-year-old fruit dealer Ghulam Hassan War from the Apple Town Sopore, Baramulla.

“I got 27 bullets and my mother’s leg too was riddled with bullets. I was in coma for three days while his mother’s leg had to be amputated”, said War. 

War’s crime: He had the temerity—unlike most of the victims from the rural Kashmir—to speak up and identify the gunmen who had killed his brother, a former militant, in cold-blood.

“My brother Mushtaq Ahmed War was arrested in 1991 and detained for three years in Jammu’s Kot Balwal jail. After his release he joined the family’s fruit business,” War said.

But on April 27, 2005, he said, two Ikhwanis (the government gunmen) Muhammad Shafi Dar and Fayaz Ahmed War called his brother on his cellphone asking him to come to Warpora, Sopore. 

“As soon as he reached there both of them opened fire. Residents heard the gunshots and tried to reach the spot but army had cordoned off the area and they prevented the villagers from shifting my brother to hospital,” he said. Mushtaq later bled to death.

On the next day Sopore police station registered an FIR (No. 137/2005 under section 302) stating that Mushtaq was killed by the unidentified gunmen, War said. “When I saw the FIR, I was shocked. I told the SHO to mention the name of the accused and presence of the army on the spot.”

“Don’t teach me my job,” the officer, according to War, told him. “Try to save your life rather than highlighting this issue.”

The warning came true for War who had vowed to see his brother’s killers behind the bars. More than a month later “the three gunmen, Fayaz Ahmed Dar, Showkat Ahmed Dar and Fayaz Ahmed War” tried to kill him and his mother. “But Allah saved us.”

As usual the police, according to War, didn’t touch the accused he had named in the FIR. “After getting a cold response from police officials in Sopore, I approached the Inspector General of Police (IGP), Kashmir. The IGP wrote a letter to the SSP Sopore asking him to look into the case of my brother and trace the killers,” he said. 

He also approached the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC). The commission issued a notice to the IGP asking him to explain his position. In his letter to the SHRC (No. ZPHQ/HRC-2100/20540-41 dated October 22, 2005) the IGP said: “(The) deceased was a Pak-trained militant. He surrendered in 1991 and was lodged in Kotbalwal jail. In 1994, he was released and he established an STD shop at Warpora.

“The army personnel camped in nearby village used to visit his STD shop frequently. Later on Mushtaq Ahmed War started working as their source. The investigation of the case was closed as untraced on Aug 9, 2005.” 

War however challenges the police version. His brother, he said, never owned an STD shop at Warpora. “If he had owned one, everybody would have known it. Let police come and investigate. Irony is that till today no policeman has recorded our statement.” 

“We are living under constant fear, but I and my family are determined to get the killers punished,” he said, adding, “They have attacked me once and I know they can come again, but I will not give up.” 

RAJOURI FAMILIES SEEK BODIES OF KILLED 3

February 17: The family members of three persons of Rajouri who were killed in custody, and reportedly buried in Ari graveyard of Meander, are seeking the help of authorities to get their bodies back.

According to these families, Muhammad Akbar Qureshi (35) son of Saki Muhammad, his brother Khadam Hussain (45) and cousin Roshin Din (65) were arrested by the troops of 6 Sikh Regiment from their homes on 15 October 1999 during a nocturnal raid. 

“The troops entered our home at 11 pm and asked all the three to accompany them and show the way towards the forest,” said the families. “They will come back after 15 minutes after showing the way to us as we have been posted here recently,” the troops told us.

The families waited for three days, but the three never returned.

After three days they met the Commanding Officer of 6 Sikh regiment. “He assured us that he would look into the matter.”

After waiting for a week the families met the Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) J P Singh who also assured safe release of the three and denied to register FIR against troops. “We pleaded before the SSP but he denied to register FIR and assured their release,” the families told.

These families have left no jail where they have not searched the missing. “We know all the jails of India and have entry passes of all these jails,” the families said. 

Akbar has two children, Roshan Din, 8, and Khadam Hussain had four. One of Khadam Hussain’s sons became a militant. He was killed by troops in an encounter and his brother was killed in custody.

“After disappearance of my father, Moeen became a militant and was killed in an encounter and my other brother was killed in custody by army,” Khadam’s daughter told.

The families while searching the missing persons showed their photographs to locals of Ari Meander who identified them and said they had buried the three after being handed over the bodies by the army.

“Due to pressure from the troops we could not raise our voice earlier. Now as the fake encounter killings are being investigated, let them (the government) handover the bodies of our loved ones,” the families say.

District Magistrate Rajouri Parvez Ahmad Malik told that the area, where the families say the bodies are, lies in Poonch district, “but the families should approach me and I will write to District Magistrate Poonch to order exhumation.” 

GOVERNMENT GETS NOTICE ON CUSTODIAL DEATH 

February 17: A Court issued notices to State Government to file objections and produce records in the killing of a youth of Apple Town Sopore allegedly in a fake encounter in Jammu last year. 

 
The directions were given by Justice Mansoor Ahmad Mir on a petition filed by Abdur Rehman of Seer Jagir Sopore in which he alleges that his son Ghulam Rasool, 24; a TV mechanic was killed in a fake encounter by Special Operations Group of Police on August 8 last year. 

Rehman’s counsel Mansoor Ahmad Dar told the Court that Ghulam Rasool went missing on March 17, 2006. His family filed a report in the police station and searched for his whereabouts at various interrogation centers and army camps, but in vain. 

Finally, he said the family published his photographs in various newspapers of the state. The family was shocked when they came to know that Ghulam Rasool had been dubbed as a militant and killed along with another militant in an encounter on August 19, 2006. The family filed an application seeking permission for exhumation of the body. Later the body was exhumed and laid to rest at his native village, the counsel told the Court. 

Rasool’s father pleaded before the Court that action must be taken against the Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Jammu Mukesh and the SOG for killing his son, the lone breadwinner of his family and brother of four, in a fake encounter. 

 
Rehman’s lawyer, in the petition has alleged that Ghulam Rasool was arrested by the SOG and then killed on the orders of SSP Jammu at Jadti Gali. 

Quoting a CID report, Dar told the Court that no encounter took place in the area mentioned by police on the fateful day and that the two persons were killed in a fake encounter and then labelled as militants. 

The SOG, he said had identified one of the “militants” as Basharat alias Jaili son of Muhammad Akbar of Pakistan and claimed recovery of arms and ammunition from him. 

The deceased’s father prayed before the Court that a murder and abduction case should be registered against the SSP Jammu and SOG, and sought a relief of rupees 10 lakh. 

After hearing the arguments, Justice Mansoor issued notices to SSP Jammu Mukesh and Deputy Commissioner Jammu directing them to file their objections within seven days. 

The Court directed the CID to produce the report in which they had stated that Ghulam Rasool was killed in a fake encounter. Police was also directed to provide security to the deceased’s father. 

In his arguments, counsel for the government Muhammad Amin Rather assured the Court that officers who are involved in the case would be punished. 

KILLED IN 96 BY GOVERNMENT GUNMEN, SON SEARCHES FOR FATHER’S GRAVE

SRINAGAR, February 11: Ten years have passed since the “killing” of a man from Nishat here, but the accused, the government gunmen, are yet to be punished. 

 
Ali Muhammad Mir, 45, son of Haji Rajab Mir of Brain Nishat went missing from Dalgate on June 26, 1996. When his family failed to locate him, they lodged a report in the Nishat Police Station. 

“After investigation police arrested Maqbool Sheikh alias Magga Watlu of Oberoi. Some cops told me that during interrogation he admitted that he had kidnapped and killed my father with the help of Bashir Ahmad of Lathroora who is working for top government gunman Papa Kashtwari,” Mir’s son Zahoor Ahmad told. 

“They also revealed the name of other accused in the case but the police did not arrest them. Papa Kashtwari demanded rupees one lakh for locating my father’s body and providing the whereabouts of the killers. But he fooled me,” he said. 

“Police later stopped investigation of the case and released Maqbool after 40 days of detention without any court order. As my father’s killers are roaming free, our family’s life is at risk.”

 
An official of Police Station Nishat told that the matter is still under investigation. “We are probing whether Ali Muhammad Mir went missing or has been killed. Presently no person is under arrest in the case,” he said. 

However, Mir’s family accuses the police of hushing up the case. “For the last 10 years I have been running from pillar to post to see the killers of my father behind bars. However, police is shielding the accused government gunmen,” said Zahoor. 

“I fear that my father has been killed in a fake encounter and then labeled as a militant. The matter should be probed by an independent agency,” he added.
KASHMIRI ARRESTED IN DELHI, LABELLED MILITANT 

SRINAGAR, February 16: Yet another Kashmiri youth has been arrested by the Delhi police and labeled as a militant despite repeated assurances by Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad that Kashmiris won’t be hounded and harassed outside the state. 

 
Fayaz Ahmad Lone, 27, son of late Ali Muhammad Lone was arrested by the police on February 5 from New Delhi’s Connaught Place where he was buying electronic goods for his shop in Trehgam village of Kupwara. Labeled as a Lashkar-e-Toiba militant, the Delhi police have claimed recovery of RDX from Lone. 

 
Fayaz, according to his family, left for Delhi on February 2, promising to return in 10 days. “We’re shocked when we came to know that he has been arrested and passed off as a militant,” Fayaz’s mother Taja Begum told. 

“Why was he arrested? He is not militant. What is the sin of my son?” 

 
Fayaz, a father of two, is the lone bread earner for the seven-member family including his three unmarried sisters. Mehmooda, the wife of Fayaz, is unable to understand the situation given her husband’s “clean record.” 

 
Now there is no one in the family who can go Delhi to see Fayaz. “I will sell my paddy land and send any of my relative to see Fayaz,” Taja said, adding “People are saying that Kashmiris are being arrested without any sin in Delhi, and that is true.”

 
There is no police record against Fayaz in police station Trehgam. “No there is nothing adverse against Fayaz in our records. We verified his antecedents two days after his arrest. He has no militant links at all,” an official of the police station Trehgam said.

 
Senior Superintendent of Police Kupwara, Vijay Kumar told that “Delhi Police has written us to inform the family, and they haven’t sought any verification from us, and we are verifying on our own level.” 

FAMILY SEEKS SON’S WHEREABOUTS 
February 3: The family of 24 year old Shabir Ahmad Dar son of Muhammad Subhan Dar of Noorbagh alleges that Shabir was picked up by troops near Rajbagh, Srinagar on July 1, 2005.  

According to the family Shabir was a shawl vendor by profession and has nothing to do with the militancy. The family has apprehensions he too might have been killed in a fake encounter. “The people who are being exhumed went missing like Shabir,” the family said. 

“We went to Ganderbal to know whether Shabir has too been killed in fake encounter, we asked the police to show the photographs of killed people but they didn’t co-operate,” the family told. 

Shabir left home to meet someone in connection with his business on July 1 and didn’t return in the evening. “We thought he might have gone to meet some relative but after two day’s wait we approached police and lodged a missing report” the family said. “The police assured that they will search but till date police couldn’t give us a satisfactory answer” the family said.
The family has approached State Human Rights Commission (SHRC). SHRC has sought a detailed report from IGP Kashmir. The IGP in his report writes, “After verification we came to know Shabir was scheduled to participate in a meeting of Salvation Movement on July 1, but he has not reached the venue.”

The family denies the charges. “He was not affiliated with any organisation” adding “He was earning for his old parents and sister.” 

“We went to Cargo camp, Islamabad, Baramulla and Kupwara SOG camps and all denied his arrest.”
“Someone told us 32 RR arrested him. We went to Rafiabad 32 RR camp and they denied arrest,” the family says. “If he is alive, police must tell us where he is. If he is no more they must give us his body,” the family pleads. 

CUSTODIAL KILLING BY SOG
DODA, February 8: Notwithstanding the fact that government had assured action against the alleged killing of a civilian by Special Operations Group personnel in Chief Minister’s native area Bhallesa, the involved cops are roaming free and enjoying government tutelage with aged father of deceased wandering from pillar to post for justice. 

Sub-Divisional Magistrate (SDM) Bhaderwah had ordered a magisterial inquiry into the killing of Muhammad Ishaq Choudhary, 19. He was allegedly killed by SOG in Kehn Dhar area of Bhallesa on November 24, 2006. 

Three months have passed since, but the investigation has not been initiated by the investigating officer concerned. Sources said he describes ‘domestic problem’ as reason behind the delay in the inquiry. 

Choudhary Mehar Din, father of killed youth alleges that his young son was killed by STF party on November 24, 2006 at Kehn Dhar area. 

“My son was killed by police and I am witness to his killing,” the aged father said adding that police has projected the killing as cross-firing incident. “Even in the FIR they have mentioned he was killed in cross firing,” he said. 
He said on the day, SOG party was in search of militants and when they traced two militants in nearby forests, they opened fire and killed both but after the encounter they picked his son and killed him. “They picked my son from the house and took him to the encounter spot and shot him dead,” he said. 

He said that STF tortured his son and then fired upon him in front of his eyes. “My son was crying, he was telling something but bullets had pierced his body, we took him to Hospital but he succumbed to injuries,” he said. 
He said they took the body to Malikpura and staged dharna on the road. He said that they were demanding probe into the killing and when SDM Bhaderwah assured them that the culprits will be booked after conducting magisterial inquiry, they buried the body in Malat village. 

Mehar Din said that the inquiry was ordered and Tehsildar Thathri, Shamad Din was appointed as investigating officer. Three months has passed, but no inquiry is still conducted in the killing. 

When the investigating officer was asked the reason behind the delay in investigation, he said that he had some domestic problem and now he is ready to initiate investigation. 


YOUTH KILLED IN POLICE CUSTODY

RAJOURI, February 14: A youth was killed in the custody of police station, Rajouri sparking off protests from the villagers of Chaprian near Jawahar Nagar, who pelted stones on District Hospital, Rajouri causing damage to official vehicles including an ambulance. Police had to use teargas and lathicharge to disperse mob, which turned violent at District Hospital and Gujjar Chowk.

SHO Rajouri Inspector Showkat Ahmed Malik and Havildar Gian Singh have been placed under suspension and a magisterial inquiry ordered into the custodial killing of Showkat Ali son of Mohd Latief, a resident of Chaprian, SSP Rajouri, Farooq Khan said

Post-mortem of 26 year old Showkat Ali was conducted by a Board of Doctors at District Hospital here to ascertain reasons behind the killing. Reports of post-mortem are awaited.

Official sources said Showkat Ali was picked up by a team of Rajouri police station from his house around 8.30 pm for questioning in connection with a theft in the house of Mohd Aslam of same village. Local people claimed that Showkat, who was a conductor, had no past record in police. His family and neighbours pleaded with police that he shouldn’t be taken to police station in the night and assured that they will produce him to police station tomorrow morning. Police, however, didn’t agree and shifted the youth to police station.

Showkat collapsed in police station at 11.30 pm, sources said, adding he was taken to District Hospital, Rajouri where he was declared dead.

As the people of Chaprian and surrounding villages came to know about the killing of Showkat Ali, they marched towards District Hospital, where body of the victim was lying. They pelted stones on official vehicles including a police Gypsy and an ambulance causing damage to them.


Mob pelted stones on the cops, who retaliated with lathicharge to prevent the mob from damaging public property.

Meanwhile, post-mortem on the body was conducted by a Board of Doctors, formed by Hospital authorities on the request of civil and police administration.

Exact reasons behind the killing of Showkat Ali will be known after post-mortem report, which was await, Mr Khan said, adding pending an inquiry SHO Rajouri Inspector Showkat Ahmed Malik and Havildar Gian Singh have been placed under suspension.

A case in the killing has been registered.

Deputy Commissioner Parvez Malik has ordered a magisterial inquiry into the killing, which will be conducted by Additional District Magistrate (Assistant Commissioner Revenue), Kewal Krishan Sharma. The ACR has been asked to submit his inquiry report within 21 days.

Showkat Ali’s mother, Sakina Bi told that cops even didn’t allow her son to wear woolen clothes in chilled weather condition when he was arrested last night. She charged the cops with murdering her son and demanded strict action against them.

CARPENTER WHO DISAPPEARED IN 2002

KOKERNAG, February 5: Fayaz Ahmad Lone, 30, son of Abdul Rehman Lone, a resident of Loharsinzai-Gadool, 10 kilometers away from Kokernag was picked up by 36 RR at around 10:00 pm on September 22, 2002, from the home of his brother-in-law in Zalangam-Kokernag where he along with his family had decided to stay for a night.

The family members of Fayaz, a carpenter said that five persons Mohammad Akbar Sheikh, Sanullah Sheikh and Mohammad Iqbal Mengnoo residents of Zalangam, Mohammad Abdullah Pampori, a resident of Wangam-Souin and Fayaz were picked up by 36 RR in a Tata 407 number JK03 1166. 

Except Fayaz, the four persons were later released but whereabouts of Fayaz are unknown after he was whisked away. "All four are eye witness that Fayaz was also picked up by 36 RR and they are even ready to provide eye witness account," said a close relative of Fayaz pleading anonymity.

These relatives added that the army asked the four persons except Fayaz to pluck the apples in a nearby orchid at Zalangam. "Later these four were directed to leave and not to ask for the release of Fayaz," said 

Mohammad Yaqoob, a relative of Fayaz quoting the released four said that the army took Fayaz to Kokernag. "We later approached police station Kokernag but the SHO Abdul Majeed Rather denied to register FIR. We later approached many political leaders. With the result the concerned SHO inquired about Fayaz in a nearby army camp at Kokernag," said the brother of Fayaz.

After some time the SHO Majeed told family members that army is denying the allegation that they have picked up Fayaz. "We approached the higher ups of police and almost after 15 days of hectic efforts the FIR number 346 was registered in police station Kokernag," one relative stated.

Meanwhile, the police handed over the case of Fayaz to a police official Mohammad Ramzan Wagay who according to family members compelled them for accepting some monetary benefits from 36 RR.

"We never accepted any money but resolved to fight tooth and nail in order to trace out Fayaz. We think that there is a nexus between police and army as both the forces have kept us in confusion about Fayaz.

Meanwhile, a local from Vailoo pleading anonymity said that Fayaz was not on good terms with an SOG personnel Bashir Ahmad Wagay alias Colonel son of Mum Wagay a resident of Deesu-Kokernag.

"Fayaz was a carpenter and was working in an army camp prior to his disappearance. Bashir alias Colonel had threatened him to work for some more days at the army barrack which he had denied for some reasons. The Colonel later threatened him of dire consequences," said this local who claimed to be a close associate of Fayaz.

Since September 22, 2002, the family members including brothers and wife are in search of Fayaz. The wife of Fayaz is the worst sufferer, as she has to manage her domestic affairs without any assured income. 

But the family has not given up hope and believes that justice will be done in Fayaz's case. "We know that truth will prevail. That is why we are trying hard to trace him. We think he may have been killed in a fake encounter too," wailed the family members of Fayaz.

SCHOOL TEACHER KILLED IN CUSTODY

POONCH, February 25: They received his brutally tortured body on September 17, 1993 but even after thirteen years, justice eludes them. Family of Master Bashir Ahmed is wailing over the callous approach of the state government in punishing those guilty of murdering their innocent son. 

The family has been seeking justice since the day they laid Master Mumtaz to rest. His brother has in a written communique, urged Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad to give assurance that the common man in this conflict ravaged state of Jammu and Kashmir would get justice.

He has sought his personal intervention for getting the accused punished for their alleged role in the killing of Master Mumtaz. However, the family is skeptical whether their appeal would be responded by the Chief Minister's office. The family says that practical experiences of the last ten years has shown that the appeal hardly has had any impact on the overall scenario in which the culprits are enjoying delicacies of life and they are moving from pillar to post in search of justice. 

According to the application available with us on September 14, 1993 when 35 year old reputed teacher Master Mumtaz Ahmed (35 then) was teaching his students at Government School Loren, troops of Jammu and Kashmir Light Infantry (JAKLI) led by Major Mishra, then stationed at Saikloo near Mandi barged into the classroom and after thrashing him within the premises of the school, whisked him away to an unknown destination. 

Three days later, on September 17, 1993 the body of the teacher with multiple signs of torture was handed over to the family members by police station Loran. The letter says that signs clearly indicated that he had been badly tortured. It further maintains that he had been taken to Saikloo Mandi where he was tortured to death. 

The letter says that within minutes of the incident, police registered an FIR stating that Master Mumtaz Ahmed died due to a fall from a hill when he jumped to escape from the custody of the troops where he was taken for the recovery of arms and ammunition. But the locals sensing something fishy in the "cooked up story" of the police took to the streets demanding inquiry into the alleged custodial killing. 

His elder brother Bashir Ahmed Sheikh maintains that he was called to police station Loran and was informed that his brother Mumtaz died as he fell from a hill. He further says that he was instructed to bury the body immediately without raising any hue and cry. Bashir Ahmed Sheikh is a postman with a local post office in the village. 

The family maintains that when they approached army, they told them that Mumtaz had been handed over to police on September 15 against a proper receipt. This puzzled the family that because if army was to be believed, then Mumtaz was killed in police custody. 

The family says that it approached the then SSP (Poonch) MK Mohanty and then Deputy Superintendent of Police (Dy.SP) headquarters Poonch, Munir Khan both of whom refused to register the case. Large scale public protests followed Mumtaz Ahmed's killing since he was not only a school teacher but was an emerging politician of the area, say locals.

Later, under intense pressure from the locals, state government constituted an enquiry committee to probe into the alleged custodial killing. The committee was headed by senior KAS officer Bashir Ahmed Runyal, the then Assistant Commissioner (ACR), Poonch. He conducted a thorough probe into the alleged custodial killing and confirmed that Master Mumtaz had died due to severe torture. It is believed that he had also indicted some higher officials of the state police department. 
The family of Master Mumtaz says that his mother died due to the shock of losing her only son. The family is awaiting justice from the state government. However, while the justice has evaded them all along, September 17 comes every year haunting them with the memories of the 35 years that Mumtaz spent with his family. 

MISSING SCHOOL BOY LAST SEEN IN GYPSY OF SECURITY FORCES

JAMMU, February 8: This is the story of Ghulam Ahmed Lone, a resident of Chak-Sudal in Tehsil Handwara of district Kupwara. His son Showkat Ahmed who was studying in class 11th in Higher Secondary school, Handwara was allegedly picked up by security forces on April 15, 2006 when he was coming back home after attending the school. 

His father says that he kept waiting for the return of his son till past 12 in the night on that day. "At the time, when my son was picked up, a mobile telephone bearing number 9419510180 was in his possession apart from a notebook. He was wearing school uniform and as some eyewitnesses told us, he was picked up at around 5 PM from the market place," said Lone. 

He further said that on April 16, he approached police station Handwara where the incharge SHO asked him to search for him at some other places, where he could have gone. He says that we obliged and searched for him everywhere. "After having failed to trace my son for three days, we again approached SHO police station Handwara and lodged an FIR on April 19, 2006. We kept visiting the police station on daily basis but received no information," added father of Showkat. 

He said that after lodging an FIR at police station Handwara, they were convinced by SHO Fayaz Ahmed that their son would be traced very soon. Lone says that he kept visiting District Magistrate Kupwara, Superintendent Police Handwara and SHO police station Handwara but they all kept giving him assurances and allegedly delayed the investigations. "When we held a protest demonstration on the highway and blocked the traffic for around three hours, authorities assured us that our son would be returned to us very soon," added Lone. 

He said that district administration assured him that within fifteen days, his son would be traced out. He added that a few days later when he visited police station Handwara, he was congratulated by SHO Handwara that they have traced out his son and they can come to meet him tomorrow. Lone says that SHO told them that an army unit has accepted that Showkat is with them. 

"But even after two months, when nothing happened, I met DIG, Baramulla who directed SP Handwara to conduct an inquiry and find the truth, but to no avail," added Lone. He maintained that at times, the police officers even abused him telling him that his son has gone to Pakistan for arms training. 

Lone added that when he had lost all hopes, an official working with flood control department approached them saying that he would get them their son released but it would cost them around 1 lakh rupees. They said that they were not in a position to pay this much of amount. This irked the official who told the family members of Lone that this would cost them heavily. "He said that all the roads to trace out their son pass through him; he even accepted that he is the person behind his disappearance" added Lone. 

Lone says that they immediately brought this to the notice of SHO Fayaz Ahmed who refused to take any action saying that he cannot take action against anybody unless there is credible evidence available against the accused. Thereafter, he says that he approached various organizations seeking help in this matter but to no avail. 

Lone says that he alongwith his wife came to Jammu to meet Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad and apprise him of the treatment being meted out to them for daring to question the investigation of the state police department. "We have given a letter to chief minister explaining the whole episode. We have hopes that if our son is dead, at least we could give him a respectable burial," added Lone. 

Lone maintained that a senior police officer at Kupwara after hearing their complaint told them that for the sake of getting ex-gratia relief, they have crafted a beautiful story of the disappearance of their son. "I wanted to commit suicide when I heard those words but because I was a victimized individual standing before a powerful state police officer, I decided to remain silent," added the father of Showkat. 


POLICE CONSTABLE AMONG 3 ARRESTED FOR FAKE SURRENDER DRAMA
RAJOURI, February 22: One more fake surrenderdrama has come to light in Surankote area of border district Poonch with police arresting four persons including a suspended police constable who had staged this fake surrender drama with army’s 20 RR battalion stationed at Bafliaz in Poonch. 

 
This surrender drama was organised a fornight ago when army claimed a Hizbul Mujahideen commander had surrendered before them. 

 
Sources said, Sajid Mirza, a suspended police constable from Jammu-Kathua range approached the 20 RR battalion at Bafliaz and proposed to the army officials that for money he can persuade a Hizb commander, Nissar Husain Shah son of Mubarak Shah of village Targain Budhal, to surrender before army.

 
Army reportedly paid him rupees 20, 000 in advance and he was told that rest of the amount would be paid at the time of surrender. The accused constable Mirza approached to a jobless youth named Zakir Hussain Shah son of Khadim Hussain Shah of village Kotedhara in Rajouri and offered him a job in territorial army on payment of rupees 20,000, and if he agrees to impersonate as HM commander Nissar. Mirza along with his two accomplices identified Muhammad Ayub of Chowdhary Nar and Muhammad Azeem of Fateh Pur Rajouri brought Zakir Hussain to 20 RR camp at Bafliaz, where the surrender ceremony was staged. 


Additional SP Poonch Tahir Sajjad Bhat confirmed that a case has been registered in this regard at police station Surankote and further investigations were in progress. 

 
About the real HM commander whose name figured in the surrender drama the DSP Operations Rajouri, Tej Ram Katoch, said, “Nissar Shah the HM commander of village Targain in Budhal tehsil is presently settled in Pakistan and has reportedly married there.” 

THIS IS HOW MILITANTS ARE BORN!   
February 14: Hounded as their image has been painted black over the years by police and other agencies in and outside Kashmir, Kashmiris are now finding it difficult even to recover genuine dues from their debtors outside. 
A classic example comes from the case of a fruit dealer from Sopore seeking help from police to recover four lakh rupees from a Delhi-based fruit dealer. What forced him to seek police help is that his debtor has warned him of implicating him in a case of militancy should he press for the money.

According to Shabir Ali Mir of Bohipora Sopore, a fruit dealer in Sabzi Mandi Sopore, he sold two trucks of fruit to a dealer in New Delhi for rupees 4.5 lakh in September 2005 through an agent Shakeel Ahmad Khan of Delhi. The dealer in Delhi is running his business in fruit mandi Delhi under the shop head PXR-B-159. He has paid Rs 50,000 out of Rs 4.5 lakh at the time of agreement.
Mir has gone to Delhi three times to get the money but returned disappointed. “When I met Sham Lal in Delhi he told me to come after one month in November last year. I thought he is short of money and will pay next month.”

In December Mir again went to Delhi to get the money and returned disappointed. “He is not here come after one month,” the manager of the Lal told Mir.

Only four days ago Mir went to Delhi again to get money, but returned with a warning from Lal. “If you demanded money again, I will call police and tell them you are a militant” adding “you are not aware of Delhi police.”
Mir is worried as new season is coming up, “I have to invest for coming season but I am not in position to invest as I don’t have money.” 
Mir has borrowed money from relatives and his family according to Mir is facing starvation. “Where from I will manage as I have borrowed the money I have to return that,” says Mir.
CB CONFIRMS SEXPLOITATION OF WOMEN COPS 
February 15: The crime branch of Jammu and Kashmir police submitted an interim report in the court of Chief Judicial Magistrate (CJM) Srinagar in connection with the allegations of sexual exploitation of policewomen by the police and IRCON officials.
 
The Crime branch (CB) constituted a committee on the directions of Jammu and Kashmir High court, Justice B A Kirmani following disclosure by a woman constable that ASI Feroz Ahmad Najar was sexually exploiting the woman constables.
 
Official sources said a departmental enquiry has found Najar guilty of sexual abuse as well as corruption. He was later demoted to the rank of head constable.

 
Justice Bashir Ahmad Kirmani directed the crime branch to investigate the criminal aspects of the case.
 
The three-page report submitted by the Crime branch confirmed that Najar and some IRCON officials were involved in the scandal.


The crime branch has collected a number of evidence against Najar.

 
Sources said that crime branch will summon some IRCON officials named by the lady constable Shahnaz Akhter.
 
Shahnaz Akhter, in her statement before the inquiry officer, has stated that Najar would ask her to identify beautiful girls so that he would exploit them sexually. The CJM has directed the crime branch to submit another report on February 20. 

SHRC REPORT TABLED IN HOUSE

FEBRUARY 7: The government tabled the State Human Rights Commission report in the Legislative Council, which describes investigations against police and other security agencies by Inspector General of Police as “appeal to Ceasar against Ceasar’s Wife” saying in most of the case IGP backs up culprits involved in human rights abuses.

The SHRC Annual report for the year 2005-06 which was tabled by Finance, Law and Parliamentary Affairs Minister Tariq Hameed Karra in the upper house lists various constraints facing SHRC in investigating cases of human rights violation in the state. 

The 81 pages report describes SHRC as helpless, referring every case for investigation to the Inspector General of Police. It says that IGP generally comes to the defence of culprits with the result that a stand favouring the police is usually taken. It further says in Shakespeare’s expression that it is an appeal to “Ceasar against Ceasar’s Wife.” 

SHRC’s report observes that the term used in the Jammu and Kashmir Human Rights Act 1997 therefore loses its meaning. It says that what the commission finally falls back upon is the enquiry itself. “The Commission has been taking evidence and deciding cases on the strength of evidence and record placed before it”, says the report, adding “The experience of Commission is squarely unhappy when after making the recommendations, the same cases are again referred to the deputy commissioners of the district in a routine manner, who come back with a plea that the claimant has no case.” 

SHRC report observes that under section 19 of the act, it was the government or an authority designated by the government who can take a decision quo the recommendations and action taken report is required to sent to the commission within one month of the receipt of the recommendations, but the commission has received no such reports so far. “An important question arises, if the recommendations of the commission are allowed to be gone into by deputy commissioners. Is it not equivalent to making the commission redundant?” says the report, adding “If that is allowed to happen, there is no fun in keeping the commission in existence”. It says that a silver lining, however, had been sighted when the present government had decided to examine this aspect, but hopes immediately proved to be dupes where a cabinet sub-committee was constituted. “The commission apprehends that meeting and application of mind of such a committee is perhaps not administratively possible and it is for the government to see whether formation of such a committee does not mean delaying justice”, says the report. 

SHRC in its report further observes that in the last two consecutive annual reports the anxiety of the commission has vehemently been expressed against the non-implementation of the recommendations of the commission. It says that grievance has however, neither been registered nor addressed to. “The commission feels choked to find those people in whose favour recommendations are made, coming weeping and wailing with the complaint that the exercise of the commission was futile. They are justifying in saying so, because after loss of sufficient time and money the recommendations are not implemented”, says report, adding “this way the profile of the commission has been impaired” 

SHRC report further observes that the commission knows its legal position. “It may not be obligatory for the government to implement all the recommendations, but “ignoring” and brushing aside all the recommendations means showing utter disregard to the Act”. 

Chief Minister while replying to the debate on the grant of his ministries had said that 67 custodial deaths were reported during NC tenure, 25 such cases were reported in PDP led Government and only 4 cases were reported during about 15 months of Congress led Government. Similarly, he had said 56 custodial disappearances were reported in NC rule, 18 in PDP rule and 6 in Congress led Government.

THIS IS HOW GOVERNMENT TAKES SHRC RULINGS
February 10: “The case is under verification in the office of Deputy Commissioner (DC):” This is how Government implements recommendations of State Human Rights Commission. 

The action taken report recently released by the government clearly indicates that the government orders another inquiry after SHRC refers cases to it for ex-gratia rendering the human rights body useless. 

Here are some examples of government action (read inaction) in cases referred by the SHRC over the years. 

On June 7, 2003 Masooda, widow of Ali Mohammad of Naidkadal in Srinagar in lodges complaint with SHRC alleging her son Mukhtar Ahmad Shah, a 10th standard student along with two other boys, was on way to school in December 1994, when they were shot dead by security forces near Fateh Kadal. She prayed before the Commission for necessary enquiry into the incident and for ex-gratia as well. 

The Commission took cognizance of the matter and sought reports from concerned police and other agencies. After considering the report of Director General of Police and rejoinder filed by the complainant to this report and the statement of witnesses produced before the commission by the complainant, the commission said that complainant’s son Mukhtar Ahmad Shah was killed in cross firing. The commission held that the report submitted by the police about the killing was concocted and said the deceased was not involved in any subversive activity. 

The complaint was finally disposed off on March 15, 2006 with a recommendation to the grant of ex-gratia relief of Rs.1 lakh to the next of kin of the deceased besides one of the eligible member of the family be given benefit of SRO-43.

The home department in its action taken report on the case has said that the case is under process in the office of DC Srinagar. 

Mst. Rafiqa widow of one Muhammad Sultan Ganai of Thune Kangan in Srinagar filed a compensation case on October 13, 2003 with SHRC alleging that her son Bilal Ahmad Magray was killed by the unknown gunmen. She in her case had pleaded that the deceased was the only bread earner of the family. She had prayed for relief and compassionate employment in terms of SRO-43. 

On September 26, 2005, the SHRC in its findings established that the son of complainant was working as tourist guide at Dalgate Srinagar and was not involved in any subversive activity. After considering the whole matter the commission recommended ex-gratia relief of Rs.1 lakh in favour of the Next Of Kins (NOKs) of the missing person besides giving benefit of SRO-43 to one of the eligible member of the bereaved family.

Year on, the Home Department in its action taken report has said “the case is under verification in the office of Deputy Commissioner Srinagar”. 

In 23 cases where SHRC had recommended compensation for the victims, the State government has said that the cases are “under verification” or “under process” with the DCs of the respective districts.

DOODIPORA PROBE: ARMY INTIMIDATING WITNESSES

February 26: Inquiry officer in the Doodipora case summoned all witnesses following complaints by the relatives of the killed youth that army is harassing them.

The officer recorded statements of Muhammad Ahsan Mir, Ghulam Hassan Wani, Ghulam Rasool Bhat and Muhammad Akbar Hajam, relatives of the four boys allegedly killed by the Rashtriya Rifles troops in Doodipora Handwara in February 22, 2006.
After recording the statements, the officer observed, “In view of the apprehensions expressed by the complainants and to serve ends of justice, let the witnesses may be summoned.” 

700,000 KANALS OF JK LAND UNDER ARMY OCCUPATION: GOVT 
JAMMU, February 1: State government informed the state Assembly that armed forces have occupied nearly seven lakh kanals of land in the state.

Consumer Affairs and Public Distribution Minister Taj Mohiddin on behalf of home minister informed the upper house that defence and security forces have occupied approximately 6,81,839 kanals of land in the state.

District wise land under army occupation 

Kathua 10108.05 505.06 10613.11
Rajouri 18920.05 2778.03 21.698.08
Doda* 13089.09 1433.18 14523.07
Udhampur 25039.11 1039.12 26079.03
Poonch 17301.00 29298.00 46599.00
Jammu 112916.11 17157.16 130074.07
Kupwara 5946.10 348.17 6295.07
Baramulla 8706.03 21533 30239.3
Pulwama 9840.18 2692.05 12533.03
Islamabad 1657.06 6662.05 8319.11
Budgam 3970.14 2951.06 5922.00
Leh 2756.01 223783.14 226539.15
Kargil 124232.02 - 124232.02
Srinagar 17175.½ - 17175.½
Total 371655.15,½ 310184.2,½ 681839.18
RR, SOG FORCE MIGRATION OF 40 FAMILIES FROM KISHTWAR VILLAGES
KISHTWAR, February 25: More than 40 families from a Kishtwar village have migrated to town following alleged sustained harassment over a period of time which made them to leave their hearth and find solace in nearby town where people at helm could hear their woes.
 
According to villagers, the Jammu and Kashmir’s Special Operation Group (SOG) men and troops of 63 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) camped here have unleashed reign of terror forcing them mostly from villages of Khujgam, Mughal Maidan to migrate to tehsil headquarter Kishtwar. 

 
More then 40 families of Khujgam, about 24 kilometers from Kishtwar have migrated from their village. 

The reports of migration and subsequent settlement was evident when hundreds of villagers of Mughal Maidan and adjoining area held protest demonstration on Kishtwar-Chatru road against the atrocities of the RR and SOG. 
Disclosing the woeful tale, Mushtaq Ahmad Wani of Mughal Maidan said, “On evening of February 17, the residents heard the blast on the roadside of the area and soon after the blast, the troops of 63 RR barged inside the houses of the villagers and started beating then ruthlessly.”

As RR men went on rampage, he alleged, adding that more then 10 persons received injuries due to gun butts, out of which two received critical injuries who were shifted from PHC Chatru to SDH Kishtwar. 

During the protest demonstration, the villagers alleged that their life has been made miserable. “RR men dragged school children inside their camp and after several hours they were released with torture indications evident,” the villagers said, adding that in these conditions they cannot live in their respective villages. 

According to villagers, no one from the police or civil administration has visited the village. 

“The SDM Kishtwar is out of station for the last few days, but no one from the district administration bothered to visit the areas,” the villagers said 

 
When contacted SDPO Kishtwar Liyaqat Ali said few days back, a RR patrolling party was fired upon by the militants in which one RR man was killed. “After the incident the RR man conducted search of the areas. However no villager was beaten by the RR personnells”, said the SDPO. 

SUICIDES BY TROOPS

· BSF MAN COMMITS SUICIDE

February 1: Reports said that one BB Thappa, working as a barber in the 129 Batalion of Border security forces at Abdullian area of RS Pura sector, Jammutook his colleague’s gun from the barracks and shot himself dead. Police has registered a case in this regard and sent the body for post-mortem. 

· SOLDIER SUICIDES

February 15: A soldier of Army’s 26 Infantry Division committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle in Jammu, reports said. 

The dead soldier has been identified as Sepoy Kalminder Singh.

· TROOPER SHOOTS COLLEAGUE 

February 24: A soldier shot dead his colleague, believing him to be an intruder, at an army camp in Poonch.

 
Sandeep Singh of 20 Rastritya Rifles was walking near the gate of the camp early in the morning when a soldier Sohan Singh asked him to halt in Bhanikheet area of Poonch. When the soldier ignored the call, Sohan fired at him killing him on the spot.

NEWS IN BRIEF

· FRUIT DEALER KILLED  

February 8: Police has recovered tortured body of a fruit dealer from Kreeri, Baramulla.According to a police spokesman, police recovered the body Abdur Rashid Beigh, 28 son of Abdul Gaffar of Wanigam, Baramulla from the orchards of village Telegam Waripora, Kreeri. Some unidentified persons murdered the deceased. Police has registered a case in this regard and the hunt for the murderers is on. 

Reports said, “The deceased fruit dealer was arrested by troops last year on the charges of involvement in fake currency racket. The police later filed an FIR against Abdul Rashid on the recommendation of troops." 

· LABOURER KILLED

February 21: A labourer was killed and three people injured in a shootout at Achabal in south Kashmir’s Islamabad district 

 
A police spokesman said the gunmen fired indiscriminately on a culvert at Damhal Khushipora Achabal, on which some labourers were working, injuring four of them.

He said the injured were rushed to a hospital, where one of them, Muhammad Ramzan of Dailgam succumbed. 

· TEENAGER MISSING

February 6: A mentally challenged teenager from Sopore, who had come to Srinagar for treatment, has been missing since Febrruary 3. Reports said Sahil Ahmed Parray son of Abdul Hameed Parray disappeared from Batmaloo area. Since then his family members have been running from pillar to post for ascertaining his whereabouts, but there search has proved to be futile
· MOSQUE DESECRATION SPARKS PROTESTS
February 1: People at Tral in south Kashmir took to the streets in protest against alleged desecration of a mosque by troops. 

However, an army spokesman denied the allegation and said, “The protest was at the behest of militants because of a massive offensive launched by the security forces in the area.”

· MILITANT’S FAMILY HARASSED

February 1: Family of a Hizbul Mujahideen commander from Noorpora, Tral has accused the troops of harassment. A delegation from Tral told that the son of Muhammad Akbar Dar joined militancy a decade back and has not contacted them since then. "But the family is being harassed by troops, their women are subjected to physical and mental harassment every now and then," the delegation said. 

· CRPF BEATS TRADER

February 1: Troops of paramilitary CRPF ruthlessly beat up a trader in Chickoot village of Awantipora in Pulwama district. Reports said Feroz Ahmed Jan of Pir Bagh of Hyderpora Srinagar was asked to come down from the vehicle by the troops who started beating him up ruthlessly. Following this, Feroz turned unconscious on the roadside. Feroz later identified the trooper before the Superintendent of Police Awantipora who assured him that action will be taken against the erring soldier

· JAWAN INJURED IN MINE BLAST

February 26: An army jawan namely Jholimav was injured in a mine blast at Bump-III post in Poonch. His right ankle was blown off in the blast and had to be amputated.

· GOVT GUNMAN KILLED

February 8: Suspected militants shot dead a government gunman and injured his wife and Personal Security Officer (PSO) in Baramulla district of north Kashmir.

 
According to reports, the assailants fired at a Santro vehicle (No. JK01K-0370) carrying Muhammad Yousuf Dar alias Mushtaq Ikhwani son of Assadulah Dar of Gurora Bandipore, when he was driving to Srinagar. 

 
Dar died on the spot while his wife Dilshada Bano and PSO constable Farooq Ahmad were critically wounded. They were rushed to Srinagar for treatment. Police has registered a case. 

· REIGN OF TERROR

February 7: Inhabitants of Uri have demanded stern action against a government gunman who according to them has spread of terror in the area. Reports said that a delegation from Tarkhanjan said the gunmen Abdul Hamid Bhat fired upon the house of Abdul Hamid Wani on January 27, injuring him seriously. Later police took him into custody and registered a case against him. "Despite passing of a week the accused has not been produced in the court. We want immediate action against him," the delegation said.

· CRPF ATROCITIES

February 25: The people of Sangam and its adjoining areas including Naena and Natipora have accused the paramilitary CRPF troops of harassing them. A delegation from the area told that the troopers have been harassing the people and shopkeepers after the militants killed two CRPF men earlier this week.

· BODY RECOVERED

 February 17: Police recovered an unidentified body of a middle-aged man from Lachmanpora Batmaloo, Srinagar. 

· TROOPS OCCUPY VILLAGE, GRAVEYARD, MOSQUE

February 1: Molvi Abdul Rehman MLA Banihal said, the troops have occupied Budla village, graveyard, and even a Mosque,” he said. The Troops, he said didn’t stop there. They even occupied newly newly constructed PHE. He said in 2000, some 12 persons were killed in Budhal village; so far their kith are yet to get any job.  

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

· 1017 MISSING: GOVERNMENT  

February 2: State government has come out with latest figures about those disappeared since 1990: 1017. But the opposition believes that the actual figure is somewhere around 5000. In his written reply to a question from the opposition in Legislative Council early this week, minister in charge social welfare last week said that 1017 youth have been disappeared since the beginning of the militancy in 1990. 
But the reply did not satisfy the opposition benches. “There are nearly 5000 persons who are missing,” said G.N Shaheen who had raised the question in the Legislative Council. Government in response to his question had said that only 1000 youth were missing in the State. 
In Kashmir division, District Baramulla in North Kashmir according to Government figures has suffered worst with 433 persons missing. South Kashmir District of Islamabad figures at second place in the list with 153 persons missing since 1990. Government figures indicate that in Jammu division, District Doda tops the list with 69 persons having disappeared since 1990, with Ramban Tehsil having 30 missing persons. 

· GOVERNMENT TO RAISE 15-ARMED BATTALIONS

February 8: The government categorically said deployment of troops will continue in the state and it will raise some 15 more armed battalions within the state. 

 “The withdrawal of troops could be possible only after situation in the state improves to a certain level, and instead the state government has sent a proposal to New Delhi for raising 15 Armed Battalions”, CAPD minister Taj Mohiddin said. 
· 22145 SPOS IN J&K

February 8: Minister for CAPD Taj Mohi-ud-Din disclosed in the Upper House that 22145 SPOs are engaged in various districts of the state. 

He further informed the house that 438 SPOs were killed by the militants in the state and Rs 2 lakhs is paid as ex-gratia relief to the Next of kin. He said that SPOs are being paid monthly honorarium of Rs 3000 per head. They are engaged for rendering assistance to police as well as army and para-military forces in dealing the law and order situation in the state, said Taj. 
· 175 SECURITY PERSONNEL PUNISHED SINCE 1990 

February 9: Although 175 security personnel, including an officer of the rank of Lt Colonel have been punished from 1990 to June 2006 and trial against 84 others was going on for human rights violations in the State, the main Opposition party National Conference (NC), however, today again raked up the issue of custodial killings and human rights violations and stalled the proceedings of the Legislative Assembly thereby leading to the adjournment of the House for an hour.

The uproar started when Minister for Consumer Affairs and Public Distribution Taj Mohi-ud-Din, on behalf of Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad, in reply to the question of Ali Mohammad Sagar, said that only six cases of disappearance and four cases of custodial deaths were reported during 2005-06.

However, Mr Sagar pointed out that the Government has presented distorting figures on the floor of the House as the SHRC, in its annual report tabled yesterday, has mentioned 39 cases of disappearance and 17 custodial killings in 2005-06. 

· MUFTI DEMANDS TROOPS WITHDRAWAL

February 13: Peoples Democratic Party patron and former Chief Minister Mufti Muhammad Sayeed demanded withdrawal of Indian troops from Jammu and Kashmir and revocation of Armed Forces Special Powers Act (AFSPA) saying PDP ministers will take up the matter in cabinet and ask the state government to recommend to Government of India to revoke AFSPA and withdraw troops. 

· 15 MAGISTERIAL, 2 JUDICIAL PROBES ORDERED IN 2 YRS 

February 18: Under verification, this is what the state government has to say in the cases of human rights violations in which it ordered magisterial inquires in the past two years. 

 
The government ordered 15 magisterial and two judicial inquiries in past two years in the cases of custodial killings, fake encounters, etc.

· 39 CASES OF DISAPPEARANCES: SHRC 

February 7: The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) said that it has instituted 39 cases of disappearances from 1st April 2005 to 31st March 2006. 

· TROOPS THRASH SUMO DRIVERS

February 2: Troops thrashed many Sumo drivers after they refused to give their vehicles for anti-militancy operations in Islamabad district. According to news reports, the troops forced two drivers to give their vehicles, which they declined. "After an hour, the troops returned and thrashed the drivers ruthlessly," it said, adding the drivers were later shifted to a hospital.

· BODY RECOVERED

February 2: Police recovered an unidentified decomposed body of an aged person from Miskeen Bagh area of Khanyar on Friday.According to news reports, the residents of the area informed the police about the body floating in Dal Lake. 

· GK LENSMAN THRASHED

February 11: Troops of paramilitary CRPF beat up Greater Kashmir lensman Danish Ismail near the Jamia. “I was doing my professional duty when the CRPF men were thrashing some protesters. They rushed towards me, asking me to delete the pictures. On my refusal, five CRPF men snatched my identity card and beat me severely,” Danish said. 

· TWO BOYS WOUNDED IN AN EXPLOSION

February 16: Two boys were wounded in an explosion at Surankote area in Poonch district of Jammu, a police spokesman said. The class seven students, Wasim Sajjad son of Farooq Khan and Shahid Iqbal son of Muhammad Hanief of Morah Bachei village in Surankote were grazing cattle in the field when a device exploded, police said. The duo was shifted to hospital.
KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF FEBRUARY

	DATE 
	SOLDIER
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	February 1
	1
	-
	-
	-

	February 2
	4
	-
	-
	-

	February 3
	-
	-
	-
	1 Renegade 

	February 4
	-
	-
	-
	1 ex-militant & 1dead body recovered 

	February 5
	-
	2
	-
	-

	February 6
	-
	2
	-
	-

	February 7
	-
	-
	-
	-

	February 8
	4
	1
	-
	1 Renegade 

	February 9
	3
	-
	2
	-

	February 10
	-
	2
	1
	-

	February 11
	1
	-
	-
	-

	February 12
	-
	-
	-
	-

	February 13
	1
	-
	-
	-

	February 14
	1
	2
	-
	-

	February 15
	-
	2
	-
	-

	February 16
	-
	2
	-
	-

	February 17
	-
	-
	-
	1 unidentified dead body recovered

	February 18
	1
	-
	-
	-

	February 19
	-
	2
	-
	-

	February 20
	3
	-
	-
	-

	February 21
	-
	-
	2
	1 dead body recovered

	February 22
	-
	-
	-
	-

	February 23
	1
	3
	-
	-

	February 24
	-
	-
	-
	1 CIK constable

	February 25
	-
	-
	-
	-

	February 26
	-
	3
	-
	-

	February 27
	2
	1
	-
	1 dead body recovered

	February 28
	-
	1
	-
	-

	TOTAL
	22
	23
	5
	8


CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS IN THE MONTH OF FEBRUARY 2007

February 1: One BSF soldier commited suicide by shooting himself at Border out Post, Jammu. 

February 2: Four policemen were killed in violence related incidents in the state.

February 3: An Ikhwani (government sponsored gunmen) killed by suspected militants in Hajan.

February 4: A former militant and a dead body of a govt. employee were recovered from Bandipora in Kulhama. 

February 5: Two HM militants were killed in violence related incidents across the state. 

February 6: Two unknown militants were killed in violence related incidents in Kulgam.  

February 7: No incident of killing reported from any part of the valley. 

February 8: Four soldiers of army of 42 BN, one militant of and one Ihwani were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state. 

February 9: Three army men inclining a Junior Commissioned Officer and two civilians were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state. 

February 10: One LeT, one HUM militants and a civilian were killed in violence related incidents in the valley.

February 11: One SOG man died in an encounter at Kangan. 

February 12: No incident of violence reported.  

February 13: One army Jawan commited suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle in Jammu province. 

February 14: Two HM militants were killed while a trooper suicide in the state. 

February 15: Two JeM & two-HM militants were killed at Mahore area of Jammu. 

February 16: Two HM milants killed

February 17: An unknown dead body was recovered from Batamaloo, Srinagar.

February 18: One SPO killed in Doda when his service rifle went off accidently. 

February 19: Two militants including one-HM militant were killed at Udhampur – in Jammu provision. 

February 20: Two CRPF personnel at Sangam, Bijbehara and army jawan were killed in separate incidents of violence. 

February 21: Two labourers were killed in indiscriminate shootout by unknown gunmen at Achabal, Anantnag while police recovered dead body of Mohammad wagay of Wahipora. 

February 22: No incident of violence reported. 

February 23: Three militants including two of LeT militants and one army man were killed in different incidents of violence. 

February 24: CIK constable shot dead at Kokermohalla, Soura Srinagar by suspected militants. 

February 25: No incident of killing was reported from any part of J&K.

February 26: Three JeM militants were killed in separate incidents of violence in the valley. 

February 27: Two army men and one unidentifiedmilitant were killed in Kupwara district.
February 28: One LeT militant killed in an encounter at Kalhand, Jammu.
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WOMEN – CHILDREN KILLED


February 8: Suspected militants shot dead a government gunman and injured his wife and Personal Security Officer (PSO) in Baramulla district of north Kashmir.


According to reports, the assailants fired at a Santro vehicle (No. JK01K-0370) carrying Muhammad Yousuf Dar alias Mushtaq Ikhwani son of Assadulah Dar of Gurora Bandipore, when he was driving to Srinagar. 


 Dar died on the spot while his wife Dilshada Bano and PSO constable Farooq Ahmad were critically wounded. 


February 16: Two boys were wounded in an explosion at Surankote area in Poonch district of Jammu, a police spokesman said. The class seven students, Wasim Sajjad son of Farooq Khan and Shahid Iqbal son of Muhammad Hanief of Morah Bachei village in Surankote were grazing cattle in the field when a device exploded, police said. 























On March 25, 2000, troops of RR 7th Battalion claimed to have killed "five foreign militants responsible for massacre of 35 Sikhs at Chittisingpora on March 20, 2000" in an encounter at Panchalthan, Pathribal. On next day, Anantnag public outcried that the five charred human beings are the five innocent civilians who had mysteriously disappeared from their residences two days after the massacre of 35 Sikhs at Chittisingpora.


On April 3, 2000 a huge demonstration was observed in Anantnag at Brakpora in which seven civilian demonstrators got killed in firing by the CRPF and SOG, when they were asking authorities to reveal whereabouts of the five missing persons as also the identification of the "five foreign militants” which army claimed that they have killed them in an encounter at Pathribal.





The  FIR’s registered regarding the Pathribal case are as follows:-





a) FIR No. 85 of 2000 (relating to the event of Chittisingpora).


b) FIR. Nos. 16 of 2000 of Achabal, police station  regarding abductions of two Juma Khans of Brari Angan, 98 & 99 of 2000 of Anantnag, town police station  relating to the missing of the three persons, namely, Shree Zahoor Ahmad Dalal of Anantnag and Shree Mohammad Yousuf Malik and Shree Bashir Ahmad Bhat of Hallan respectively.


c) FIR. No. 93 of 2000 of Anantnag police station relating to the event of firing at Brakpora/ Bulbul, Nowgam. 


After eventful sequences of nearly three years---exhumation of Pathribal bodies, DNA testing at two forensic laboratories, fudging of DNA samples, attachments, suspensions and transfers of senior officials and finally the "foreign militants" turning out to be innocent civilians---the investigation was handed over to CBI in January 2003. CBI has finally exonerated the then SSP Anantnag, Farooq Khan, and other J&K police officials but found five army officials, including a Brigade Commander, guilty of killing five innocent civilians in a fake encounter. The civilians killed and charred beyond normal recognition were identified as Zahoor Ahmed Dalal of Mominabad, Bashir Ahmed Bhat son of Abdul Aziz Bhat resident of Halan, Mohammad Yusuf Malik son of Abdul Kabir Malik resident of Halan, Juma Khan son of Amirullah and Juma Khan son of Faqeerullah.





The investigations of all the above three cases are still pending with the respective investigating officers.
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